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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF HERTSMERE 
BOROUGH COUNCIL ON THE AUTHORITY'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE AUTHORITY'S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Disclaimer of opinion 

We were engaged to audit the financial statements of Hertsmere Borough Council ("the Authority for 
the year ended 31 March 2025 which comprise the Group and Authority Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statements, Group and Authority Balance Sheets, Group and Authority Movement in 
Reserves Statements, Group and Authority Cash Flow Statements, Collection Fund, and the related 
notes, including the accounting policies in note 5.1. 

We do not express an opinion on the financial statements. Due to the significance of the matters 
described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion. 

Basis for disclaimer of opinion 

The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2024 (the "Amendment Regulations") require the 
Authority to publish its financial statements and our opinion thereon for the year ended 31 March 2025 
by 27 February 2026 (the "Backstop Date"). 

We have been unable to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence over a number of areas of the 
financial statements as we have been unable to perform the procedures that we consider necessary to 
form our opinion on the financial statements ahead of the Backstop Date. These areas include, but 
were not limited to, for both the Group and the Authority; 

• Cash and Cash Equivalents, Property, Plant and Equipment, Short-Term and Long-Term
Debtors, Short-Term and Long-Term Creditors, Non-domestic rates income and 
expenditure included within Taxation and Non-Specific Grant Income and Provisions; and 
the balance of and movements in usable and unusable reserves for the years ended 31 
March 2024 and 31 March 2025.

• Fair Value of Scheme Assets element of the Liability related to Defined Benefit Pension
Scheme for the year ended 31 March 2025.

• the net assets as at 1 April 2023, and therefore whether there were any consequential
effects on the disclosed comparative income and expenditure for the year ended 31 March
2024.

Any adjustments from the above matters would have a consequential effect on the Group's and the 
Authority's net assets and the split between usable reserves and unusable reserves as at 31 March 
2024 and 31 March 2025, the Collection Fund and on their income and expenditure and cash flows 
for the years then ended. 

Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations - ability to detect 

As stated in the Disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we do not express an opinion on the financial 
statements due to the reasons described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report. 

Other information 

The Head of Finance & Business Services (the "Section 151 Officer") is responsible for the other 
information, which comprises the information included in the Statement of Account, other than the 
financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Any opinion on the financial statements would not 
cover the other information and we do not express an opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
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Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our 
financial statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the 
financial statements or our audit knowledge. 

Due to the significance of the matter[s] described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our 
report, and the possible consequential effect on the related disclosures in the other information, whilst 
in our opinion the other information included in the Statement of Accounts for the financial year is 
consistent with the financial statements, we are unable to determine whether there are material 
misstatements in the other information. 

Section 151 Officer's responsibilities 

As explained more fully in the statement set out on page 2, the Section 151 Officer is responsible for 
the preparation of financial statements in accordance with CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on Local 
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2024/25 and that give a true and fair view. They are also 
responsible for: such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing 
the Group's and the Authority's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they have been 
informed by the government of the intention to either cease the services provided by the Group and the 
Authority or dissolve the Group and the Authority without the transfer of their services to another public 
sector entity. 

The Audit Committee of the Authority is responsible for overseeing the Authority's financial reporting 
process. 

Auditor's responsibilities 

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the financial statements in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK), and to issue an auditor's report. However, due to the significance of the 
matter described in the Basis for disclaimer of opinion section of our report, we were not able to obtain 
sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on the financial statements. 

We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are independent of the Group in accordance 
with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY MATTERS 

Report on the Authority's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in 
its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice published by the National Audit Office in November 2024 on behalf 
of the Comptroller and Auditor General (the "NAO Code of Audit Practice"), we are required to report to 
you if we identify any significant weaknesses in the arrangements that have been made by the Authority 
to secure economy, efficiency, and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

Except for the matters detailed below, we have nothing else to report in this respect. 

Identified significant weakness - Governance 

The Council published its draft Statement of Accounts for 2024/25 on 25 July 2025, which was late 
compared to the statutory deadline of 30 June 2025. Additionally, during the course of our audit 
management made us aware of a number of material amendments that were required to be made to 
the draft Statement of Accounts ahead of the Backstop date. 

These matters are evidence of weaknesses in proper arrangements for reliable and timely financial 
reporting that supports the delivery of strategic priorities and ensures compliance with statutory 
deadlines. 
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We recommend that the Council develops, and then monitors, a detailed action plan outlining how they 
expect to return to a financial reporting timetable which ensures a good quality set of draft accounts are 
published in line with the statutory deadline. Where required, the Council should invest in additional 
resources within the finance team to ensure future compliance with statutory reporting deadlines. 

Identified significant weakness - Governance 

On 27 March 2025, the Council was informed by the Planning Inspectorate, an executive agency 
sponsored by MHCLG, that it was under risk of 'designation'. This was due to performance concerns 
regarding the quality of decision making during the 2-year period to March 2024, including appeals 
decisions up to 31 December 2024. The Council made specific representations in response to this 
communication, and it was confirmed in June 2025 that the Council would not be placed under 
designation at that time. 

However, there is a clear risk that decisions taken by the Council during 2024/25 could ultimately result 
in designation by the Planning Inspectorate. This could have a number of adverse impacts on the 
Council, including exposure to significant financial and reputational risks. Therefore, we have 
determined that there is a significant weakness in governance arrangements relating to decision-
making on major applications. 

We note that the council has engaged with the Chief Planner at MHCLG and developed an action plan 
to respond to the concerns raised. The Council should monitor the implementation of this action plan 
robustly, with a particular emphasis on the development of a common understanding amongst members 
and officers regarding the specific technical requirements of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2024, and consistent application of this Framework, in order to improve performance in relation to major 
application appeals. 

Respective responsibilities in respect of our review of arrangements for securing economy, 
efficiency and effectiveness in the use of resources 

The Authority is responsible for putting in place proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources. We are required under section 20(1) of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 to be satisfied that the Authority has made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. 

We are not required to consider, nor have we considered, whether all aspects of the Authority's 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources are operating 
effectively. We are also not required to satisfy ourselves that the Authority has achieved value for money 
during the year. 

We planned our work and undertook our review in accordance with the NAO Code of Audit Practice 
and related statutory guidance, having regard to whether the Authority had proper arrangements in 
place to ensure financial sustainability, proper governance and to use information about costs and 
performance to improve the way it manages and delivers its services. Based on our risk assessment, 
we undertook such work as we considered necessary. 

Statutory reporting matters 

We are required by Schedule 2 to the NAO Code of Audit Practice to report to you if: 

• we issue a report in the public interest under section 24 and Schedule 7 of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014; or

• we make written recommendations to the Authority under Section 24 and Schedule 7 of the Local
Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
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• we make an application to the court for a declaration that an item of account is contrary to law under
Section 28 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or

• we issue an advisory notice under Section 29 of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014; or
• we make an application for judicial review under Section 31 of the Local Audit and Accountability

Act 2014.
We have nothing to report in this respect. 

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES 

This report is made solely to the members of the Authority, as a body, in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to 
the members of the Authority, as a body, those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor's 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Authority and the members of the Authority, as a body, for our 
audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

DELAY IN CERTIFICATION OF COMPLETION OF THE AUDIT 

As at the date of this audit report, we are unable to confirm that we have completed our work in respect 
of the Authority's Whole of Government Accounts consolidation pack for the year ended 31 March 2025 
because we have not received confirmation from the NAO that the NAO's audit of the Whole of 
Government Accounts is complete. 

Until we have completed this work, we are unable to certify that we have completed the audit of the for 
the year ended 31 March 2025 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the NAO Code of Audit Practice. 

Christopher Paisley 

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP 
Chartered Accountants 
1 St Peter's Square 
Manchester 
M23AE 

27 February 2026 
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Narrative Statement 

Overview from the Head of Finance and Business Services 

I am presenting these 2024/25 Statement of Accounts following yet another 
challenging year as the nation continues to face a tough economic climate. Whilst the 
economy is slowly recovering from the turmoil caused by the global pandemic, lifestyle 
changes as a result have impacted on demand for our services and more widely are 
impacting on labour markets making recruitment difficult. The previous impact of high 
inflation which peaked at 11.1 % in Ocober 2022 means that the price of goods and 
services remain high and continue to have a significant impact on our service budgets 
as well as on household budgets affecting our residents and staff. Inflation is now 
considerably lower and started the year on a downward trend, falling from 3.2% to 
1. 7% by mid-year, below the Government's target rate of 2%, it did however tip up 
over the second half of the year reaching 2.6% by year-end.

The UK Base Rate, which is set by the Bank of England's Monetary Policy Committee, 
started to fall from the peak of 5.25% it reached in August 2023 and has since reduced 
to 4.5% by the end of financial year 2024/25 and has continued to gradually reduce 
since the end of the financial year. Whilst this has provided some relief for 
homeowners with mortgage rates also starting to fall, for those that don't own their 
own house, rents remained high. Whilst we are now seeing interest rates on a 
downward trajectory this is at a slower rate than initially expected by economists. 

The recent high inflation and high interest rates has had a significant impact on the 
lives of our residents and our local businesses as well as putting pressure on our own 
budgets. 

As a district council, Hertsmere is at the heart of the community and pivotal to the 
needs of its residents and businesses. Over the past few years, through this 
challenging economic period, we have introduced many measures to ensure the 
continuity of key services to support our residents and businesses and during 2024/25 
these have included: 

Economic 

We awarded over £400,000 in community grants to local voluntary sector and 
community groups, we continue to fund Citizens Advice with around £257,000 to 
provide support and advice to our residents, we continue to support foodbanks in the 
borough, we have been supporting over 120 community groups across the borough to 
access funding, improve their services and to support their communities better. The 
Hertsmere Community Lottery continues to offer a free fund raising platform for 48 local 
causes, our economic development work has continued with our government-funded 
Community Wealth Building programme in partnership with the Job Centre Plus and 
Clarion Housing Association and our Generation Hertsmere careers event links local 
businesses with secondary school pupils from across the borough. 

Health 
Our staff have helped to raise awareness of local health priorities including distributing 
450 Small Acts of Kindness Warm in Winter bags to the most vulnerable members of 
our community. Our Healthy Hubs continue to run drop ins in Borehamwood, Potters 
Bar, Radlett and Bushey, providing help and support on a range of health and 
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wellbeing matters and our award winning Hertsmere Against Cancer campaign raised 
awareness of the signs and symptoms of cancer. 
Climate 
We've implemented a range of initiatives to make it easier to go greener including our 
partnership with Beryl, which saw 45 bikes and 25 e-bikes installed at 27 locations 
across Borehamwood and a recent expansion to include 15 e-bikes at five locations 
across Bushey. 

Once again we faced uncertainty in our funding due to Central Government 
announcing a further one-year financial settlement rather than the anticipated and long 
overdue multi-year settlement, which would have provided more budgeting and 
financial certainty over the medium term. The Council however continues to work 
towards reducing the funding gap identified in its medium term financial plan and to 
produce a balanced budget in an extremely challenging financial climate. 

We continue to face uncertainty in some of our own funding sources that are 
dependent on certain external drivers as well as factors at play within our own borough 
such as levels of employment, business growth and demand for our services such as 
affordable housing. Whilst we continue to develop our Local Plan we have also faced 
pressures in relation to speculative planning applications several of which have 
resulted in costly appeals. 

The impact of all these pressures were regularly assessed by officers throughout the 
year however some service areas including Asset Management and Legal Services 
posted year-end overspends, albeit these service overspends were more than offset 
by underspends in other service areas most notably Street Scene, Environmental 
Health and Housing. Also whilst the economic conditions put pressure on service 
budgets the Council did benefit from greater than anticipated investment returns and 
resulting in an overall General Fund surplus of £1.944million against budgeted net 
cost of Services of £13.814million. 

This surplus will be applied to provide an inflationary uplift in our General Fund reserve 
which provides a contingency to cushion the impact of unexpected events or 
emergencies and as agreed by the Council during the year it will contribute to the 
funding of the Civic Office refurbishment and feasibility study into the future of our 
waste depot. 

As reported last year, the discovery of asbestos at the Council owned Elstree Studios 
resulted in the immediate closure of stages 7, 8 and 9 back in August 2022 and these 
remained closed at the end of the fiscal year. All asbestos remediation works have 
however now been completed with works now underway to bring these stages back 
into use by the middle of next year. The rest of the site continues to operate at near 
capacity and remains a popular location for film and television productions. 
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Hertsmere and our local area 

Hertsmere is a largely rural Borough in Hertfordshire, situated immediately to the north 
of London. With 80% of our borough in Green Belt land, the majority of our residents 
live in our four main towns - Bushey, Borehamwood, Radlett and Potters Bar - each 
with their own identity. Excellent north-south rail and road connections mean that 
Hertsmere is very well connected to London and the rest of the country. 

It's this mix of green areas, distinct towns, and strong connections that means life in 
Hertsmere offers a great balance of city and countryside. It is also this location and 
strong connections which make Hertsmere a great place to establish a business, and 
the borough has attracted a number of major employers as a result. 

The professional, scientific or technical; construction, and ICT industries are 
particularly strong. An active film and television industry exists around Borehamwood, 
which has a heritage of film and television production dating back to the early 20th 
century. A budding avionics specialism is currently developing at London Elstree 
Aerodrome. 

Small businesses also make up an important part of the local economy. However, 
proximity to London also brings challenges including recruitment and retention of 
workers and talent, high house prices which particularly impact first time buyers, along 
with high and rising private rental costs. 

Hertsmere's population today is growing, aging and diversifying. While relatively 
prosperous, pockets of real deprivation exist within the borough. Overall population 
health is good, although health inequalities do exist. 

What services is Hertsmere responsible for? 

Hertsmere Borough Council is responsible for providing services including street 
cleaning, kerbside waste and recycling collections, community safety, environmental 
health, housing needs, benefits, leisure and parks, licensing and planning services. 

We work in partnership with other local authorities to improve the quality of life for 
residents but we do not have any control over services which are statutorily provided 
by other organisations e.g. education, children & adult social care, roads and street 
lights as they are the responsibility of Hertfordshire County Council. There are also 
five town and parish councils which operate in some areas of Hertsmere. 
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Your local councillors 

Hertsmere has 39 councillors in 16 wards who are elected to serve for four years at a 
time. The number of seats held during the 2024/25 financial year by political groups 
was: 

Conservative 16 
Labour 14 
Liberal Democrats 9 

Following the local election in May 2023 Labour and the Liberal Democrats have 
formed a Partnership Administration. 

The Council's Management Structure and Workforce 

Supporting the work of Councillors is the organisational/management structure of the 
council headed by the Chief Executive. A new management structure was approved 
by the Council in February 2025 to build additional capacity to support the Council's 
priorities. The Chief Executive under the new structure will be supported by the Deputy 
Chief Executive and Director of Place Transformation (currently vacant), along with a 
number of Assistant Directors and Heads of Service who cover a variety of areas of 
business. The council currently employs approximately 330 people in full and part time 
roles. 

Hertsmere Borough Council 
Senior Leadership Team Stucture 
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Hertsmere Vision 2022-27 - A corporate plan for Hertsmere 

The Hertsmere Vision 2022-27 was agreed by the Executive and Full Council in 
November 2021. The document provides our high level vision and will be used to 
inform the development of a range of high level strategic documents including an 
updated Corporate Plan and the new Local Plan. The Hertsmere Vision documents 
can be found in the link below: 

www.hertsmere.gov.ukNour-Council/Official-Publications--Guides--
Policies/Corporate-Plan.aspx 

The document is clearly structured with an overall Vision Statement, 6 Position 
Statements describing key areas of focus and then 30 Commitments which articulate 
how we will deliver against the statements. The commitments set out how we will work, 
both in terms of specific delivery, but also clearly reflect our organisational values. 

The Hertsmere Vision is purposely high level so that it can act as a clear framework 
for the development of future strategies and is underpinned by the Corporate Plan for 
each year between 2022 to 2027. The Corporate Plan is annually updated and sets 
how we will deliver against this vision in each financial year. 

The 6 Position Statements contained within the Vision are: 

• Strong Identity
• Sustainable Growth
• Enterprising
• Climate Action
• Inclusive and Equitable
• Open and Collaborative

The 2024/25 Corporate Plan adopts each of the Position Statement and sets out how 
we will work towards implementing the position statements and commitments which 
sit underneath that overall vision. We have identified key areas of work that will be 
undertaken during the year ahead and also articulate what success will look like so 
that we know we are heading in the right direction. 

Our role as a centre for film and television is something we are very proud of and 
continue to build on which provides opportunities for residents to celebrate our 
heritage. Our award-winning parks and open spaces are important to us and our 
residents and we will continue to invest in them. We will also work towards ensuring 
our town centres remain a key part of local life, a draw to residents and visitors alike. 

By promoting and developing our ability to generate income as well as reducing costs 
by entering into partnerships with other councils and looking for commercial 
opportunities such as establishing our own property development company. We 
currently have partnerships with other local authorities for Building Control, CCTV, 
Internal Audit and Anti-Fraud amoung others. 

We have already built some excellent quality houses for rent and will be developing 
more to generate rental income while also contributing to meeting local demand for 
housing. We set up Hertsmere Development Ltd (HDL) to take forward new 
developments on council-owned land. During 2024/25 HDL delivered its second 
development of 11 two bed units and has now delivered 26 units in total which are all 
let via our joint venture stock holding company, Hertsmere Livining Limited (HLL), at 
affordable, Local Hosing Allowance rents. HDL has also been working on future 
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developments and recently submitted a planning application that will deliver a further 
40 housing units. 

We declared a climate emergency in 2019 and are serious about our pledge to move 
to net zero carbon emissions no later than 2050. We have adopted a Climate Change 
Strategy with an action plan which sets out how we will deliver against this commitment 
and support our stakeholders to play their part. 

We are also investing in our local communities through the Community Infrastructure 
Levy and S106 monies funding many local projects and new community infrastructure. 

Performance Management 

We are committed to ensuring that we deliver the Hertsmere Vision whilst also 
maintaining high-quality service delivery to local residents and businesses. In order to 
ensure that we are delivering these aims, we will continue to monitor our performance 
both against this plan and across our services areas. We have therefore reviewed our 
performance management arrangements as follows: 

Performance Indicators (P/s) 
• All Pls will be reviewed and updated to ensure that they are representative of

the commitments in the Vision and that they remain reflective of all service
areas.

• The Quality Service Indicator monitors the performance of our main public-
facing service areas and will be considered by the cross-party Cabinet
Performance Management Panel and by the Cabinet on a quarterly basis.

• The Key Performance Indicators which contain more detailed service level
information will be considered by exception only by the Performance
Management Panel on a quarterly basis.

• The full indicator set will be considered at Chief Officer Board on a quarterly
basis.
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2024/25 Financial Statements 

The financial statements link closely to the Corporate Plan which enables delivery of 
the Council's goals and objectives. These Statements set out the financial position of 
the Council as well as the financial position of the Group which includes the Council's 
wholly owned subsidiary companies Elstree Film Studios Limited and Hertsmere 
Developments Limited. 

The Council is continuing with its programme of improvement in performance and 
service delivery. This is underpinned by the Corporate Governance framework which 
is the mechanism through which our priorities are filtered down throughout the 
organisation. 

The Council's Annual Governance Statement provides further details of the strategies 
implemented to achieve our objectives which have been developed and reviewed 
during the year. The Annual Governance Statement which was approved by the Audit 
Committee is included later in these accounts. 

The Audit Committee, which met five times during 2024/25, works to promote and 
safeguard financial probity throughout the Council. The Audit Committee is attended 
by and receives reports from the Council's External Auditors which for 2024/25 is 
KPMG. The Committee also receives regular reports from the Assistant Director 
Finance in relation to the Statement of Accounts, Accounting Standards and Treasury 
Management, from the Shared Internal Audit Service (SIAS), from the Shared Anti-
Fraud Service (SAFS) and from the Risk Manager. 

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all colleagues from the 
finance team and other services for their assistance in preparing these accounts, and 
for their support throughout the year. 

If you would like to have any further information on the accounts, you can forward 
details of your request to the council by email at 
Statementofaccounts@hertsmere.gov.uk or by post using the following address: 

Matthew Bunyan 
Assistant Dirctor Finance 
Civic Offices 
Elstree Way 
Borehamwood 
Hertfordshire 
WD61WA 
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3.1 Summary of Performance 

Non-Financial Performance 

In the current financial climate, local authorities have to think creatively about how to 
reduce costs whilst still delivering high quality services. Hertsmere remains committed 
to making the most of our assets whilst finding new ways to deliver services that meet 
the needs of our residents. The Council remains in a healthy financial position, and 
aims to maintain its financial resilience and continues to work towards self-sufficiency. 

Income maximisation 
The Council generates income from various sources including funding, project specific 
grants, fees and charges, rental income from its assets, investment income and also 
uses planned drawdowns from specific reserves to fund expenditure. This income is 
used to support the delivery of our services. 

Apprenticeships 
We have looked at new ways to recruit and develop staff, particularly in hard to recruit 
professions, and currently there are 8 apprenticeships in place across the different 
Council departments. 

Leisure Service Improvements 
In partnership with lnspireAII, £5.0m was spent by 2019/20 by the Trust to deliver a 
range of improvements in facilities across the borough's main leisure centres. 

Parking Partnership 
In addition to our existing partnerships for the delivery of services, such as building 
control, internal audit and the anti-fraud service, the Council has entered into a parking 
partnership arrangement with Three Rivers District Council on 1 April 2018, generating 
efficiencies for both Councils which covers all parking enforcement and support 
services. 

Elstree Studios 
The world renowned, council-owned Elstree Studios, continue to provide significant 
rental payments to the council, £3.8million in 2024/25. This includes income from the 
new Platinum Stages which completed in July 2022 and named in honour of Her 
Majesty's Platinum Jubilee. 

However whilst the Studios remain a popular location for film and television 
productions, the discovery of asbestos in stages 7, 8 and 9 back in August 2022 which 
resulted in the immediate closure of these stages resulted in significant cost for 
remediation works. The asbestos remediation works are now completed and work to 
bring the stages back into use is expected to complete by the middle of next fiscal 
year. 

Hertsmere Developments Limited (HDL) 

Hertsmere established a wholly owned development company, Hertsmere 
Developments Limited (HDL), in February 2016 which became fully operational during 
the 2022/23 financial year. The Council has provided loan funding to HDL for both 
working capital and development loans and during 2024/25 HDL completed its second 
housing development of 11 two bedroom units. The completed units were sold to 
Hertsmere Living Limited (HLL) (see below) and the development loan was repaid in 
full. As at 31 March 2025 HDL still had a working capital loan with a balance of £0.5m, 
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the maximum facility being £1.2m. HDL has now developed 26 new housing units 
which will all be let at affordable Local Housing Allowance rents. 

Hertsmere Living Limited (HLL) 

In February 2022 the Council approved the formation of a stockholding joint venture 
company with Clarendon Living Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary of Watford 
Community Housing Trust. The company was subsequently named as Hertsmere 
Living Limited (HLL). The main purpose of creating HLL was to retain ownership of 
housing developed by the Council and selected schemes from its development 
company, HDL, in perpetuity to provide social and affordable housing and a revenue 
income stream. As referred to above HLL have acquired 26 properties from HDL for 
affordable rent, they have also acquired eight properties directly from the Council and 
a further five properties on the open market all of which will also be at affordable rents. 
In addition HLL holds six market rent properties acquired by way of equity from 
Hertsmere Borough Council. 

Planning for the Future 

A key role of the Council is to help shape the future of the borough. Hertsmere is a 
great place to live and work and we're trying to make sure it stays that way, both for 
existing communities and for future generations. We know the borough will have to 
grow and develop. During 2024/25 we have invested more than £20 million in capital 
projects. 

Civic Offices 
We have completed the refurbishment of the Council Offices which now supplement 
the Council's new flexible working policy supporting a more efficient workforce. The 
refurbishment has also created new space to let to our public sector partners 
generating an additional ongoing income stream. 

Elstree Studios 
We have completed the asbestos remediation works at the studios to ensure the site 
meets health and safety regulations and to bring the site fully back into use as soon 
as possible. 

Housing 
We have invested in new social and affordable housing and have also acquired 
additional temporary accommodation, whilst also providing loan funding to HDL to 
develop new affordable homes. 

Waste 
We have enhanced our waste fleet with the purchase of some new more efficient and 
environmentally friendly vehicles including vehicles for delivery of our new food waste 
collection service. 

Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Projects 
We are investing CIL receipts in new community assets including a new all weather 
football pitch. 
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STATEMENT 

Supporting our Communities 

We continue to support our communities during these challenging economic 
conditions, we recognise the need to develop and grow our local partnerships to 
deliver the best outcomes for our residents and we have been working with a range of 
organisations, from statutory and voluntary, to engage with residents to help keep 
them happy, healthy and safe. 

A number of initiatives took place during the year, including: 

Economic 
• We awarded over £400,000 in community grants to local voluntary sector and

community groups who have worked to support local residents, with a focus
on celebrating our increasingly diverse community. These included 46
applications for small grants to help residents join in with our 50th Anniversary
celebrations.

• We continue to fund Citizens Advice with around £257,000 to provide support
and advice to our residents such as access to benefits and debt management.

• We continue to support the foodbanks in the borough to ensure that residents
are able to access emergency food aid and support from a range of agencies
to help address the causes of food poverty.

• The community engagement team has been supporting over 120 community
groups across the borough to access funding, improve their services and to
support their communities better. The types of groups supported include
voluntary groups, religious groups, community spaces, toddler groups, youth
activities, foodbanks, libraries and many more.

• The Hertsmere Community Lottery continues to offer a free fundraising
platform for 48 local causes, which receive 50p from every £1 ticket sold.

• Our economic development work has continued with our government-funded
Community Wealth Building programme in partnership with the Job Centre
Plus and Clarion Housing Association providing training to more than 400 local
people and resulting in more than 130 job offers during 2024.

• Our Generation Hertsmere careers event in November 2024 linked local
businesses with secondary school pupils from across the borough.
Health

• Our staff have helped to raise awareness of local health priorities, local support
available, voter ID requirements, and local activities and have distributed 450
Small Acts of Kindness Warm in Winter bags to the most vulnerable members
of our community.

• Our Healthy Hubs continue to run drop ins in Borehamwood, Potters Bar, 
Radlett and Bushey, providing help and support on a range of health and
wellbeing matters. The team is now able to offer NHS Health Checks and Stop
Smoking Support.

• Our award winning Hertsmere Against Cancer campaign raised awareness of
the signs and symptoms of cancer. Working in partnership with local GPs, we
have seen more than 3,000 women booked for cervical screening and almost
400 booked for breast screening.
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Climate 
• We've implemented a range of initiatives to make it easier to go greener

including our partnership with Beryl, which saw 45 bikes and 25 e-bikes
installed at 27 locations across Borehamwood and a recent expansion to
include 15 e-bikes at five locations across Bushey. These bikes and e-bikes
are available to hire via the Beryl app and, in the first two years, more than
25,000 journeys were made, covering nearly 50,000km.
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Financial Performance 

Council Funding 

In line with the rest of local government, the Council has seen an ongoing reduction in 
its core funding putting increasing pressure on local council tax. 

For Hertsmere in 2024/25, central government funding under the settlement funding 
assessment including from retained business rates, New Homes Bonus and the 
Funding Guarantee amounted to £5.007m which now represents just 36% of the 
funding required to meet the Council's budgeted net expenditure of £13.814m. This 
leaves around 64%, almost two thirds of the Council's total funding to come from local 
Council Tax. 

Against this background, the Council continues to lead the way in rising to the financial 
challenges facing local government by implementing a number of strategies: 

• We have adopted a more entrepreneurial approach and focussed on expanding
our ability to generate income as well as reducing costs.

• Entering into partnerships with other councils.
• Looking for commercial opportunities.
• Building new affordable housing for rent to meet local demand.
• Establishing our own property development company to take forward housing

developments on Council-owned land.
• Establishing a joint venture housing company with Clarendon Living Ltd, a

subsidiary of Watford Community Housing Trust, to provide housing for rent
across a range of tenures.

Financial Management and Sustainability 

The 2024/25 budget was set under challenging economic conditions. Whilst the 
economy was slowly recovering from the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the 
resulting cost of living crisis the ongoing impact of high inflation and high interest rates 
continued to have a significant impact on households, businesses and the Council's 
own budgets. The budget process considered all risks to the Council's financial 
position and for 2024/25 the key risks were identified as follows: 

• Economy: The economy is slowly recovering however the increased cost of
living continues to have a significant impact on household budgets affecting our
residents and staff. These conditions could continue to have a detrimental
impact on the cost of providing services and on Hertsmere's revenue streams
for example through fees and charges and on collection of local taxation.

• Staff Pay, Recruitment and Retention: With the increased cost of living, staff
expectations for a significant pay increase remain high. A 4% pay award has
been built into the 2024/25 budget however, the Council does need to be 
mindful of other public sector pay whilst also delivering a pay award that is 
affordable. Recruitment and retention continues to impact on some services.

As part of the 2025/26 budget process the Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP) was 
reviewed and updated and now shows a budgetary gap of £0.677m over the four year 
period to 2028/29. The revised MTFP was approved by the full Council in February 
2025 who also acknowledged that this needs to be managed through the delivery of 
efficiencies and additional income and is an integral part of the annual budget process. 
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The Council's General Fund Reserves remain healthy and as at 31 March 2025 were 
£19.890 million. This is made up of £8.876 million in an un-ring-fenced general fund 
reserve which exists to cushion the impact of unforeseen events that would impact on 
the Council's resources and cannot be contained within existing budgets and would 
not be covered by normal insurance arrangements. The remaining £11.014 million is 
being held in specific ring-fenced reserves available for specific revenue and capital 
projects. 

The Accounting Code of Practice requires that local authorities prepare their accounts 
on a going concern basis, as they can only be discontinued under statutory 
prescription. Whilst the Council has identified a funding gap over the medium term it 
is working to close this gap and also has a reasonable level of reserves. For these 
reasons the Council does not consider that there is material uncertainty in respect of 
its ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. 

Revenue outturn 

In 2024/25 the budget for the Council's net cost of services was set at £13.814 million. 
The budget was regularly monitored and reported to senior management and 
members throughout the year. There were various budgetary variances to manage 
during the year and some service areas including Asset Management and Legal 
Services did post year-end overspends. These overspends were however more than 
offset by other service underspends and by greater than anticipated investment 
returns due to high interest rates resulting in a year-end net spend of £11.870 million, 
within the approved budget and an overall favourable variance for 2024/25 of £1.944 
million. 

FINANCIAL MONITORING POSITION Revised Outturn Budget 2024/25 31 Mar 2025 2024/25 

SUMMARY OF PERFORMANCE £000 £000 

Planning & Economic Development 1,144 1,165 
Housing Services 1,317 1,205 
Partnership & Community Engagement 1,515 1,483 
Environmental Health 1,265 1,111 
Street Scene Services 5,925 5,665 
Asset Management (4,509) (4,142) 
Finance & Business Services 3,252 3,240 
Legal & Democratic Services 1,799 1,864 
Human Resources & Customer Services 1,491 1,427 
Executive Directors 556 591 
Audit & Assurance 215 216 

Net Service Operational Expenditure 13,970 13,825 

General Expenses, Audit & Bank 
Charges 402 540 
Apprenticeship Levy 31 47 
Central Contingency 21 0 
Minimum Revenue Provision 490 490 
Investment Interest (1,100) (3,032) 

Total Service Costs 13,814 11,870 
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NJ\RRATIVE 

3.2 Reconciliation from the reported underspend for the year to the movement in 
the General Fund balance 

Table 1 

Financial Monitoring Report (FMR)Surplus 
Civic Office FWD Capital Project 
Street Scene Depot Feasibility 

Budgeted & other transfers to/from reserves 
Capital expenditure funded from reserves 
Elstree Film Studios - Asbestos 
Sinking Funds Movement 
EFS Pension contribution 
Housing Grants & Initiatives 
Local Development Scheme 
Planning Inquiry Costs 
Staffing Restructure Costs 
Business Rate Equalisation 
Other 
Movement in General Fund Balance 

General 
Fund 
£'000 

228 

228 

228 

Reserves Total 

£'000 £'000 

228 
1,616 1,616 
100 100 

1,716 1,944 

(3,655) (3,655) 
(8,202) (8,202) 

329 329 
(372) (372)
448 448 
234 234 

(194) (194)
(243) (243)
4,487 4,487 
(611) (611) 

(6,063) (5,835) 

3.3 Reconciliation from the reported spend for the year to the Expenditure and 
Funding analysis - Net General Fund Expenditure (note 5.15 column 1 ). 

Other Trading Contribution Shown 
Revenue movements Account to /from EMR below EFA 
Outturn post outturn Recharges in outturn NCS Column 1 

Service £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 
Asset Management (4,230) 1,637 119 811 (1,663) 
Audit & Assurance 217 217 
Executive Directors 591 (44) 547 
Engineering Services 88 5 154 247 
Environmental Health 1,111 24 42 1,177 
Finance & Business 3,240 4 155 (23) 3,376Services 
General Expenses 587 9 573 (9) 1,160
Housing Services 1,205 56 (426) 1,488 2,323
Human Resources & 1,427 16 156 1,599Customer Services 
Legal & Democratic 1,864 71 (45) 1,890Services 
Partnership & 
Community 1,483 (57) 818 2,244
Engagement 
Planning & Economic 1,165 3 1 507 1,676 Development 
Street Scene Services 5,664 106 (280) (391) 694 5,793
Corporate 490 (490) 
Investment Interest {3,032} (3,032) 

11,870 1,815 (280) 90 4,059 17,554 
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3.4 Capital outturn 

The council spent £20.404 million on capital expenditure during 2024/25 and is 
committed to spending a total of £21.685 million over the remaining three year 
programme (see Note 5.17.1 ). The outstanding major capital commitments include 
ongoing investment in Elstree Film Studios and the Civic Offices, new housing 
development, new car park payment machines and local community infrastructure. 

FINANCIAL MONITORING POSITION 

2023-24 2024;25 
Outturn Outtum 

31 March 2025 

SUMMARY OF CAPITAL SPEND £000 £000 

Asset Management 23,160 '11,948 
Planning & Economic Development 58 621 
Environmental Health 1,544 1,684 
Street Scene Services 908 1;621 
Finance And Business Services 52 798 
Housing & Partnerships 93 0 
HR & Customer Servcies 30 0 
Hertsmere Living Limited 0 ·3,132

Total Capital Expenditure 25,845 2(),404 

FUNDING SOURCES £000 £000 

Usable Capital Receipts 379 5,686 
Reserves 7,747 7,658 
Grants 3,515 2,883 
Revenue 59 0 
Internal Borrowing 14,145 4,17'7 

Total Funding Sources 25,845 20,404 
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Economic climate 

The economic climate remained challenging during 2024/25. The high cost of living 
following a prolonged period of high inflation and high interest rates has continued to 
impact on household, business and the Council's own budgets. 

Investment returns were however better than anticipated throughout the course of 
2024/25 due to higher than forecast interest rates and higher balances due to slippage 
in the capital programme. Starting in April at 5.25%, the peak of the cost of living crisis, 
Bank Rate dropped off by a quarter percent in August 2024 with two successive 
quarter point reductions in December and February, falling to 4.5% by year-end. 

Finance Strategy 

The Finance Strategy assists the Assistant Director Finance in planning the Council's 
financial resources in the short to medium term (3 to 5 years) with a view to deliver the 
Council's service priorities. The strategy sets out the framework and principle on which 
the Council plans and manages its finances. As such it forms an integral part of the 
Council's Budget and Policy framework. 

The Financial Strategy was last reviewed in July 2018 and is now overdue a full 
strategic review however this has been delayed so the strategy can be aligned with 
the new Administrations priorities and an updated draft Financial Strategy is expected 
to be presented to the Cabinet in the summer and will then be reviewed by scrutiny 
before being recommended to the Council for adoption by the end of the year. 

Whilst the strategy is only reviewed every few years the core appendices including the 
Medium Term Financial Plan and Capital Strategy are updated annually as part of the 
budget process to take into account the national and regional context and link those 
with the Council's corporate goals and priorities. 

Corporate Risks 

As set out in the Annual Governance Statement, the Council routinely identifies, 
monitors and reports its risks to the Corporate Governance Group and the Audit 
Committee. The process of managing these risks not only controls the threats but also 
provides a means to identify and respond to opportunities. 

The strategic risks that have been considered by the Corporate Governance Group 
and reported to the Audit Committee are those that can affect the delivery of the 
Council's corporate goals and that relate to significant change projects. 

It is worth noting that these risks are continuously monitored and reviewed by the 
Corporate Governance Group and reported to the Audit Committee to ensure that 
appropriate mitigation plans are in place to counteract any occurrence of these risks. 
The Council's senior managers take responsibility and ownership of these risks as well 
as maintaining risk mitigation plans. Management, along with the Council's Executive 
are continuously working towards risks minimisation. 
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The Council's Finances 

The General Fund 

The Council maintains an unallocated reserve, the General Fund. The maintenance 
of such a fund is necessary to cover both planned and unforeseen expenditure and to 
provide adequate levels of reserves for the Council's operations. At 31 March 2025 
the balance on the General Fund was £19.990 million (2023/24 £25.824 million) - out 
of this, £8.978 million was held as a contingency for unforeseen events and £11.012 
million has been earmarked for specific projects. 

The Council's Net Budget Requirement (NBR), which is the net budget position after 
budgeting for gross expenditure on service provision less any income generated from 
fees and charges, rental income and specific funding including grants, contributions 
and reserves must be fully funded from Government Grant and local taxation in order 
to set a balanced budget, which the Council is legally required to do. 

The Council has however seen reductions in core grant funding over a sustained 
period with the future of some funding streams such as the New Homes Bonus and 
Business Rates growth being uncertain due to long overdue funding reviews. Whilst 
the Council has continued to balance its budget through the delivery of efficiencies 
and increased income with challenging economic conditions and such funding 
uncertainty it is vital that robust levels of reserves are maintained in order to safeguard 
services. 

Earmarked reserves 

Earmarked reserves are funds generated through the revenue account that have been 
specifically set aside for future revenue and capital projects. The Council has once 
again been able to make good use of its earmarked reserves by using them to help 
pay for the shortfalls in income, and redirecting those that were reserved for projects 
no longer required or considered a priority. During the year a net £6.063 million was 
utilised from earmarked reserves, the most significant spend being in relation to the 
asbestos remediation at the Council owned Elstree Studios. Total funds earmarked 
for future use at 31 March 2025 is £11.012 million. The breakdown of this sum is 
provided at note 5.30.2. 

Capital expenditure programme and associated financing 

During the year the Council incurred expenditure of £20.404 million on capital projects, 
which can include anything from the purchase or replacement of vehicles and 
equipment to the refurbishment of existing assets. The most significant projects 
undertaken during the year included £7.821 million on asbestos remediation at Elstree 
Film Studios, £5.206 million on new housing developments including through the 
Council's development company, £1.684 million on Disabled Facilities Grants for 
home adaptations, £1.328 million on refurbishment of the Civic Offices and £0.423m 
on new Street Scene vehicles. 

At the balance sheet date the Council was committed to capital spending of £21.685 
million. Significant funding will be invested in new community facilities and green 
spaces as well housing development at Caishowe Road, St John's Church, Darkes 
Lane and Catterwick Way. 
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Pension fund liability 

The Council's net pension fund deficit has increased in total by £8.212m over the last 
year, from £7.252m to £15.464 due to the asset ceiling adjustment, re-measurement 
gains and (losses) and the IAS19 adjustments (£0.706) detailed in the table below: 

Return on plan assets 
Actuarial gain on changes in financial assumptions 
Actuarial gain on changes in demographic assumptions 
Other experience losses 
Ceiling Adjustment 
Re-measurements of the net pension liability (decrease) 

£4.621m 
(£14.064m) 

(£1.928m) 
(£0.762m) 
£21.051m 
£8.918m 

The value of assets held within the scheme decreased from £109.623m to £108.697m 
whilst the liabilities have decreased £113.487m to £99.559m. It should be noted that 
movements on the pension fund liability are not taken to the General Fund, which is 
only charged with pension fund contributions actually paid by the Council. Instead they 
are charged or credited to the Pensions Reserve (see note 5.31.5 to the accounts) 
which absorbs the differences between accounting adjustments and actual charges in 
accordance with statute. 

It is important to recognise that the pension fund liability reflects the outlook using 
assumptions which cover an extremely long term. The net liability reflects the valuation 
of assets which themselves can be subject to wide fluctuations over the long term. In 
common with other employers who participate in the scheme, the Council will continue 
to fund the scheme at the rate recommended by the actuary to enable the scheme to 
meet its obligations. 

The latest triennial valuation of the fund was carried out as at 31 March 2022 and the 
results were incorporated in the actuary's report, with assumptions updated where 
appropriate. The next triennial valuation as at 31 st March 2025 will be reflected in the 
2025/26 Statement of Accounts. 

Significant changes to provisions 

The Council's accounts include its share of the provision in respect of the cost of 
successful appeals against valuations for business rates (see note 5.26). At 31 March 
2024 the Council's share stood at £8.138 million and after taking into account the sums 
utilised in 2024/25, the provision has reduced to £6.529 million at 31 March 2025. The 
redcution was mainly due to rateable value list amendments in relation to local film 
and television studios following a joint industry challenge against their significant 
rateable value increase from April 2023, as well as the Government announced 40% 
studios rate relief. 

The Council's accounting policies 

The Council reviews its accounting policies each year and implements any changes 
necessary to ensure that it complies with the CIPFA/LASAAC Code of Practice on 
Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom. 
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Statement of Accounts 

The Council's financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out 
following this narrative statement in pages 31 to 112. Where appropriate, figures for 
2023/24 are also shown to enable comparisons between the two years. 

Under provisions contained in the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and the 
Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (as amended in 2021), the Statement of 
Accounts for 2024/25 had been made available for inspection on the Council's 
website, and were avaible at the Council offices from 28 th July to 1st September 2025. 

In addition to this report, the Council is required to meet certain statutory requirements. 
Details of these responsibilities and the officer responsible are disclosed in the 
Statement of Responsibilities. 

25 



The Core Financial Statements 

Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the 
Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that can be applied to fund 
expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The Total Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure shows the true economic cost of providing the Council's 
services. These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the 
General Fund for council tax setting purposes, which is arrived at by combining the 
Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure with the Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations. 

The Accounting Code of Practice identifies Earmarked Reserves to be part of the 
General Fund balance. The earmarking of reserves has no formal status in financial 
reporting or statute for local government. 

Further analysis of the General Fund is disclosed in the notes to the accounts, in Note 
5.30, identifying where part of the fund has been earmarked for specific purposes. 

Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement 

This statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to 
be funded from taxation. Councils raise taxation to cover expenditure in accordance 
with regulations; this may be different from the accounting cost. The taxation position 
is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Balance Sheet 

The Balance Sheet shows the values as at the Balance Sheet date of the assets and 
liabilities recognised by the Council. The net assets of the Council (assets less 
liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by the Council. Reserves are reported in 
two categories. The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e. those reserves 
that the Council may use to provide services, subject to the need to maintain a prudent 
level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (for example, the Capital 
Receipts Reserve may only be used to fund capital expenditure or repay debt). 

The second category of reserves comprises those that the Council is not able to use 
to provide services. This category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised 
gains and losses (for example the Revaluation Reserve), where amounts would only 
become available to fund services if the assets are sold; and reserves that hold timing 
differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 'Adjustments between 
accounting basis and funding basis under regulations.' 
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Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the 
Council during the reporting period. The statement shows how the Council generates 
and uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing 
and financing activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities 
is a key indicator of the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by 
way of taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the 
Council. Investing activities represent the extent to which cash outflows have been 
made for resources which are intended to contribute to the Council's future service 
delivery. Cash flows arising from financing activities are useful in predicting claims on 
future cash flows by providers of capital (i.e. borrowing) to the Council. 
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Supplementary Statements 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis 

The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows for each of the Council's services: 

• the amount spent under the Council's rules for monitoring expenditure against
the funding in the annual budget for the General Fund shown as Net General
Fund Expenditure in the Expenditure and Funding Analysis

• the resources actually consumed in the year as measured by proper accounting
practices in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shown as 
Amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in 
the Expenditure and Funding Analysis.

The reasons for differences between the two amounts for each service are explained 
in the tables following the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (5.15.1 - Note to the 
Expenditure and Funding Analysis). 

The Collection Fund 

The Collection Fund is an agent's statement that reflects the statutory obligation for 
billing authorities (i.e., those that raise bills for council tax and business rates) to 
maintain a separate Collection Fund. The statement shows the transactions of the 
billing authority in relation to the collection from taxpayers and distribution to local 
authorities and the government of council tax and business rates. 

Group Accounts 

These show the consolidated position of the Council with its 100% owned subsidiary 
companies Elstree Studios Limited and Hertsmere Developments Limited. Group 
accounts are presented, in addition to the Council's single entity statements, in order 
to provide a full picture of the Council's economic activities and financial position. The 
Group Accounts comprise: 

• Group Movement in Reserves Statement;
• Group Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement;
• Group Balance Sheet;
• Group Cash Flow Statement.

These statements are set out on pages 95 to 100. 
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4.1 Movement in Reserves Statement 

This statement shows the movement in the year on the different reserves held by the Council, analysed into 'usable reserves' (i.e. those that 
can be applied to fund expenditure or reduce local taxation) and other reserves. The deficit on the Provision of Services line shows the true 
economic cost of providing the Council's services, more details of which are shown in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
(GIES). These are different from the statutory amounts required to be charged to the General Fund Balance for Council Tax setting. The net 
(increase)/decrease before Transfers to Earmarked Reserves line shows the statutory General Fund Balance before any discretionary transfers 
to or from earmarked reserves undertaken by the Council. 

General Capital Receipts 
Capital Grants 

Total Usable Unusable Total Council 
Note Movements in Reserves during 2024/25 Fund Balance Reserve 

Unapplied 
Reserves Reserves Reserves 

Account 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2024 Brought Forward (25,825) (5,756) (22,269) (53,849) (174,504) (228,353) 
Adjustments to opening Balances - -

Restatement - -
Adjusted Balance as at 1st April 2024 Bfwd (25,825) (5,756) (22,269) (53,849) (174,504) (228,353) 

CIES (Surpl us)/Deficit on Provision of Services (596) (596) (596) 
CIES Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income - 5,983 5,983 
CIES Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income (596) - - (596) 5,983 5,387 

- -
5.14 

Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding 
6,431 720 (369) 6,782 (6,782) 

Basis under Regulations 
Net (lncrease)/Decrease before Transfers to 

5,835 720 (369) 6,186 (799) 5,387 
Reserves 

5.30.2 Transfer to/from Reserves - - - -
(lncrease)/Decrease in Vear 2024/25 5,835 720 (369) 6,186 (799) 5,387 

Balance at 31 March 2025 Carried Forward (19,990) (5,036) (22,637) (47,663) (175,303) (222,966) 
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Prior Year Com_parator 
General Capital Receipts 

Capital Grants 
Total Usable Unusable Total Council Note Movements in Reserves during 2023/24 Unapplied 

Fund Balance Reserve Reserves Reserves Reserves Account 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Balance at 1 April 2023 Brought Forward (42,735} (5,138} (19,954} (67,827) (173,653} (241,480} 
Adjustments to opening Balances (1) (1) (1) (1) (2) 
Adjusted Balance as at 1st April 2023 Bfwd (42,736} (5,138) (19,955} (67,828} (173,654} (241,482} 

CIES (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 17,045 17,045 17,045 
CIES Other Comprehensive Expenditure and Income - {3,916) (3,916) 
CIES Total Comprehensive Expenditure and Income 17,045 - - 17,045 (3,916} 13,129 

- -

5.14 
Adjustments between Accounting Basis and Funding

(134) (618) (2,314) {3,066) 3,066 Basis under Regulations 
-

Net (lncrease)/Decrease before Transfers to 
16,911 (618) (2,314} 13,979 (850) 13,129 

Reserves 
5.30.2 Transfer to/from Reserves - - - -

(lncrease)/Decrease in Year 2023/24 16,911 (618) (2,314) 13,979 (850} 13,129 
Balance at 31 March 2024 Carried Forward (25,825} (5,756} (22,269} (53,849) (174,504) (228,353} 

The purposes of these reserves are: 
General Fund Balance 
Holds the surpluses from the General Fund. The General Fund is the statutory fund into which all the receipts of a Council are required to be 
paid and out of which all liabilities of the Council are to be met, except to the extent that statutory rules might provide otherwise. 

Earmarked General Fund Reserves 
Amounts set aside from the General Fund Balance to earmarked reserves to provide finaAcing for specific future expenditure plans. Amounts 
are posted back from earmarked reserves to meet the specified General Fund expenditure. 

Capital Grants Unapplied Reserve 
Holds the grants and contributions received towards capital projects for which the Council has met the conditions that would otherwise require repayment of 
the monies but which have yet to be applied to meet expenditure. 

Capital Receipts Reserve 
Holds the proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets, which are available to finance capital expenditure in future years 
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4.2 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 

2023/24 
Gross Gross Net 

Expenditure Income Expenditure 
£'000 £'000 £'000 

26,705 (9,588) 17,117 Asset Management 
198 - 198 Audit & Assurance 
503 - 503 Executive Directors 
659 (56) 603 Engineering Services 

1,497 (371) 1,126 Environmental Health 
29,940 (26,342) 3,598 Finance & Business Services 

573 (47) 526 General Expenses 
3,808 (1,381) 2,427 Housing Services 
1,580 (61) 1,519 Human Resources & Customer Services 
2,251 (320) 1,931 Legal & Democratic Services 
3,170 (1,086) 2,084 Partnership & Community Engagement 
3,751 (1,477) 2,274 Planning & Economic Development 
9,066 (3,301) 5,765 Street Scene Services 

83,701 (44,030) 39,671 Cost of Services 

1,197 Other Operating Expenditure 
(3,637) Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

(20,187) Taxation and Non-specific Grant Income 
17,044 (Surplus)/Deficit on Provision of Services 

(742) (Surplus)/ Deficit on Revaluation o f  Property, Plant and Equipment
Assets

(3,174} Actuarial (Gains)/ Losses on Pension Assets and Liabilities
(3,916) Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure

13,128 Total Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

2024/25 

Note Gross Gross Net 
Expenditure Income Expenditure 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

9,084 (8,273) 810 
217 - 217
547 - 547
262 (14) 247

1,667 (490) 1,177
28,038 (24,547) 3,491
1,160 (22) 1,138
4,385 (1,575) 2,810
1,662 (63) 1,599
2,727 (844) 1,884
3,740 (1,864) 1,876 
4,250 (2,571) 1,679 
9,881 (4,071) 5,810 

67,620 (44,333) 23,286 

5.7 3,577 
5.8 (3,505) 
5.9 (23,955) 

(596) 

5.31.1 (2,935} 

5.29.1 8,918 
5,983 

5,387 
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4.4 Cash Flow Statement 

The Cash Flow Statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Council 
during the reporting period. The Statement shows how the Council generates and uses cash 
and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing 
activities. The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator to 
the extent to which the operations of the Council are funded by way of taxation and grant 
income or from the recipients of service provided by the Council. Investing activities 
represent the extent to which cash outflows have been made for resources which are 
intended to contribute to the Council's future service delivery. Cash flows arising from 
financing activities are useful in predicting claims on future cash flows by providers of capital 
to the Council. 

2023/24 Note 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 

17,045 Net (Surplus) or Deficit on the Provision of Services CIES (596) 

(14,050) Adjust to Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services for Non Cash (20,965) Movements 

9,527 Adjust for Items included in the Net Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 6,533 of Services that are Investing and Financing Activities 

12,522 Net Cash flows from Operatina Activities 5.32 (15,027) 
1,121 Investing Activities 5.33 21,061 

(14,373) Financing Activities 5.34 (11,662) 

(730) Net (Increase) or Decrease in Cash and Cash Equivalents (5,628) 

28,381 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the beginning of the Reporting Period 29,111 

29,111 Cash and Cash Equivalents at the End of the Reporting Period 34,739 
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5.1 Accounting Policies 

Basis of Preparation 

The Statement of Accounts summarises the Authority's transactions for the 2024/25 financial 
year and its position at the year-end of 31 March 2025. The Authority is required to prepare 
an annual Statement of Accounts by the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, which those 
regulations require to be prepared in accordance with proper accounting practices. These 
practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United 
Kingdom 2024/25, supported by International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). 

The accounts have been prepared using the going concern and accruals basis. The historical 
cost convention has been applied, modified for the revaluation of certain non-current assets. 

The accounting policies are reviewed regularly to ensure that they remain the most appropriate 
to the Council's particular circumstances. Any change to the accounting policies will only be 
made if it is judged that the new policy will result in the accounts providing reliable and more 
relevant information about the Council's financial position or if the change is required by the 
Code. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration received or receivable on an accruals 
basis in the period in which the supply or service is delivered by the Council. Revenue includes 
fees, charges, rents and any other income receivable by the Council for services provided; 
and excludes any discounts, refunds and value added tax. Council tax is measured at the full 
amount receivable (net of any impairment losses). 

The above policy is consistent with IFRS 15 Revenue Recognition; recognising income when 
the Council meets performance obligations by transferring control of goods and services to 
customers. 

Property, Plant and Equipment 

Basis of Recognition 

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised (and hence capitalised) on 
the Council's Balance Sheet provided that the asset yields benefits to the Council, and the 
service it provides is for a period of more than one year. 

However, due to the high administrative burden that would be required if all such items were 
included on the asset register, a de-minimis level has been set to determine which items will 
be capitalised and which will be expensed in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. 
The de-minimis level is applied against the collective total of project costs except for items of 
Vehicles, Plant & Equipment which are measured on an individual item basis. 

Asset Category: De-minimis level: 
Other land & buildings £5,000 
Vehicles, plant, furniture & equipment £5,000 
Infrastructure assets £5,000 
Community assets £1,000 

Where an item of Property, Plant and Equipment has major components, the cost of which is 
significant in relation to the total cost of the item, the components are depreciated separately. 
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Where such components have significantly different asset lives, the depreciation is charged 
over the useful economic life of each component. Where a component is replaced or restored 
(i.e. enhancements) the carrying amount of the old component is derecognised and the cost 
of the new component is reflected in the carrying amount of the asset. 

Measurement 

An item of property, plant and equipment that qualifies for recognition as an asset is initially 
measured at cost and capitalised on an accruals basis. The cost of an asset comprises all 
expenditure directly attributable to bring the asset into working condition for its intended use. 
Assets are subsequently valued using the following basis and are carried net of accumulated 
depreciation and impairment. 

Asset Category: 
Other land & buildings 

Vehicles, plant & equipment 
Infrastructure assets 
Community assets 
Assets under construction 

Basis of Valuation: 
Current value (Existing use) except in the case 
of specialised assets where depreciated 
replacement cost is used 
Depreciated Historical Cost 
Depreciated Historical Cost 
Depreciated Historical Cost 
Historical Cost 

In the case of specialised assets, depreciated replacement cost is established using the 
modern equivalent asset methodology, which provides the current cost of replacing an asset 
with its modern equivalent, less deductions for all physical deterioration and all relevant forms 
of obsolescence and optimisation. 

The Council ensures that the carrying amount of items of property (and other land and 
buildings, see note 5.16) does not differ materially from that which would be determined using 
current value at the end of each reporting period. Such items are grouped for valuation 
purposes in a manner which ensures that each asset is revalued in full at least every three 
years. All assets are reviewed annually for evidence of material changes in current value. 

Increases and decreases on revaluation 

An increase in the carrying amount of an asset arising on revaluation is credited to the 
Revaluation Reserve unless the increase is reversing a previous revaluation decrease 
charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services on the same asset or reversing 
a previous impairment loss (see below) charged to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of 
Services on the same asset. 

The reversal of an impairment loss previously recognised in Surplus or Deficit on the Provision 
of Services shall not exceed the increase that would reinstate the carrying amount that would 
have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss 
beenrecognised for the asset in prior years. Any excess above the carrying amount that would 
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have been determined (net of amortisation or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognised 
for the asset in prior years is treated as a revaluation gain and charged to the Revaluation 
Reserve. 

A decrease in the carrying amount of an asset arising on revaluation is charged to the 
Revaluation Reserve up to the value of the credit balance existing in respect of the asset and 
thereafter in the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services. 

Depreciation 

Items of property, plant and equipment (other than land, community assets to be held in 
perpetuity and having no determinable useful life and assets under construction) are 
depreciated over their expected useful economic lives on a straight line basis over the 
following number of years: 

Asset Category: 
Infrastructure Assets 
Other Land & Buildings 
Vehicles, Plant & Other Equipment 

Impairment 

Depreciation Basis: 
Up to 20 Years 
Up to 60 Years 
3 to 25 Years 

The Council's assets are reviewed for any evidence of impairment (e.g., a significant decline 
in the asset's carrying amount which is specific to the asset, obsolescence or damage) at each 
balance sheet date. Any impairment loss is charged to the Revaluation Reserve up to the 
value of the credit balance existing in respect of the asset and thereafter in the Surplus or 
Deficit on the Provision of Services. 

Disposals 

On disposal of assets the difference between the net disposal proceeds after any fees and the 
carrying amount of the asset is included in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement. However such a gain or loss on de-recognition is not deemed a proper credit or 
charge in the General Fund and is subsequently reported in the Movement in Reserves 
Statement with an amount equal to the net disposal proceeds being credited to the Capital 
Receipts Reserve and an amount equal to the carrying amount of the asset being charged to 
the Capital Adjustment Account. 

Charges to the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure Statement for the Use of Assets 

Service revenue accounts, support services and trading accounts are charged with the real 
cost of utilising assets through depreciation, revaluation and impairment losses as disclosed 
above. However local government statute does not require the council to raise council tax to 
cover these charges and they are subsequently transferred from the General Fund to the 
Capital Adjustment Account and reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Heritage assets 

Heritage assets are those assets that are intended to be preserved in trust for future 
generations because of their cultural, environmental or historical associations. Such assets 
are recognised and measured (including the treatment of revaluation gains and losses) in 
accordance with the Council's accounting policies for property, plant and equipment. 
However, some of the measurement rules are relaxed when the Council is of the view that to 
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obtain a valuation of the asset would involve a cost disproportionate to the benefit of the user 
of the accounts. 

Heritage assets are not subject to depreciation except where it has been determined that they 
have a finite useful life. The carrying amounts of such assets are reviewed when there is 
evidence of impairment and any such impairment is recognised and measured in accordance 
with the Council's accounting policies for property, plant and equipment. The proceeds of 
disposal of heritage assets are accounted for in accordance with the Council's accounting 
policies for property, plant and equipment. 

Investment Property 

Properties that are held solely for the purpose of earning rentals, for capital appreciation or for 
both purposes are classified as investment properties. Where part of an investment property 
is replaced, the carrying amount of the part which is replaced is derecognised and the cost of 
the new part is reflected in the carrying amount of the asset. 

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and are subsequently measured at fair 
value (market value) at the balance sheet date. A gain or loss arising from a change in the 
fair value of an investment property is recognised in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure 
Statement. On disposal of an investment property the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the property is included in the Comprehensive Income 
& Expenditure Statement. 

However such a gain or loss on de-recognition is not a proper credit or charge in the General 
Fund and is subsequently reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement with an amount 
equal to the net disposal proceeds being credited to the Capital Receipts Reserve and an 
amount equal to the carrying amount of the asset being charged to the Capital Adjustment 
Account. Investment properties are not subject to depreciation. 

Intangible Assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. They are 
recognised only where it is probable that expected future benefits attributable to the asset will 
flow to the council. They are measured initially at cost and subsequently at amortised cost. 
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Subsequent expenditure that does not enhance the asset is charged to Surplus or Deficit on 
the Provision of Services when incurred. 

The depreciable amount of an intangible asset with a finite useful life is amortised on a 
systematic basis over its useful life, beginning when the intangible asset is available for use. 

Internally generated intangible assets 

Internally generated assets are recognised only if all of the following have been demonstrated: 

• The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be 
available for use or for sale.

• The intention to complete the intangible asset and use it. 
• The ability to sell or use the intangible asset.
• How the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits or

service potential.
• The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete

the intangible asset and to use or sell the intangible asset.
• The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset

during its development.

Software 

Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system is capitalised 
as part of the relevant item of property, plant and equipment. Software which is not integral to 
the operation of hardware e.g. application software, is capitalised as an intangible asset. All 
software is given a finite useful life, based on assessments of the period that the software is 
expected to be of use to the Council. 

Revenue Expenditure Funded by Capital Under Statute 

Expenditure that may be capitalised under statutory provisions, but does not result in the 
creation of non-current assets, has been charged as expenditure to the relevant service 
revenue account in the year. Where the Council has decided to meet the cost of this 
expenditure from existing capital resources or by borrowing, a transfer to the Capital 
Adjustment Account via the Movement in Reserves Statement then reverses out the amounts 
charged in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement, thereby ensuring there is 
no impact on the level of General Fund Balances. 

Grants and Other Contributions 

There are several instances whereby the Council may receive a grant or contribution towards 
expenditure from central government or other bodies. Where there is reasonable assurance 
that the grants or contributions will be received and that the Council will comply with the 
conditions attached to them, grants and contributions which relate to both revenue and capital 
expenditure are accounted for on an accruals basis and recognised immediately in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement as income as follows: 
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• Specific Revenue Grants

Specific revenue grants are credited to service revenue accounts, support services,
trading accounts and corporate accounts.

• General Revenue Grants

General revenue grants, such as the Business Rates Baseline grant, are credited after
net operating expenses.

• Capital Grants and Contributions

Capital grants and contributions relate to specific capital expenditure. Where assets
are capitalised, the associated grants and contributions are credited to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement after net operating expenses.

The receipt of a capital grant or contribution is not a proper credit to the General Fund and 
where such a grant or contribution has been recognised as income in the Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure Statement and the expenditure to be financed from that grant or 
contribution has been incurred at the Balance Sheet date, the grant or contribution is 
transferred from the General Fund to the Capital Adjustment Account. This transfer is reported 
in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Section 106 

Capital contributions received under Section 106 are recognised on receipt as a liability and 
are released to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement following the 
completion of off-site facilities related to the development in question. For contributions 
received in lieu of a cash receipt a debtor is recognised and matched by a deferred capital 
receipt. 

Community Infrastructure Levy 

The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was introduced by the Planning Act 2008 and the 
Community Infrastructure Levy Regulations 2010 and is a discretionary charge which relevant 
local authorities are empowered to charge on new development in their area. CIL charges will 
be based on a formula which relates the charge to the size of the development. Income from 
CIL charges, with the exception of amounts applied in accordance with the CIL regulations to 
meet administrative expenses, must be applied to fund infrastructure to support the 
development of the area. 

Where CIL charges to be applied to fund capital expenditure have been received prior to the 
commencement date for the chargeable development, the CIL charges are transferred from 
the General Fund to the Capital Grants Unapplied Account until such a time that the charges 
are applied to capital expenditure. 

When CIL charges have been applied to fund capital expenditure, the CIL charges are 
transferred from the General Fund (or the Capital Grants Unapplied Account) to the Capital 
Adjustment Account. Where CIL charges are to be applied to fund revenue expenditure (such 
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TO THE 

as administration expenses), the CIL charges are not to be transferred out of the General 
Fund. 

Fair Value 

The Council measures some of its non-financial assets, such as surplus assets and 
investment properties, and some of its financial instruments, such as short term investments, 
at fair value at each reporting date. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date. The fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset 
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset or liability or in 
the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset 

The Council measures the fair value of an asset or liability on the same basis that market 
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability (assuming those market participants 
were acting in their economic best interest). 

When measuring the fair value of a non-financial asset, the Council takes into account a 
market participant's ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and 
best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset in its highest 
and best use. 

The Council uses appropriate valuation techniques for each circumstance, maximising the use 
of relevant known data and minimising the use of estimates or unknowns. This takes into 
account the three levels of categories for inputs to valuations for fair value assets: 

• Level 1 - quoted prices;
• Level 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable

for the asset or liability;
• Level 3 - unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

Financial Instruments 

Financial instruments are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Council becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. They are initially measured at fair 
value. 

Financial Assets 

Financial assets are subsequently measured in one of two ways: 
• amortised cost - assets whose contractual terms are basic lending arrangements (i.e.

they give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal or
interest on the principal amount outstanding, which the Council holds under a business
model whose objective is to collect those cash flows)

• fair value - all other financial assets.

Amortised cost assets are measured in the Balance Sheet at the outstanding principal 
repayable (plus accrued interest). Annual credits to the Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) are based 
on the carrying amount of the asset, multiplied by the effective rate of interest for the 
instrument. 

Allowances for impairment losses have been calculated for amortised cost assets, applying 
the expected credit losses model. Changes in loss allowances (including balances outstanding 
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at the date of derecognition of an asset) are debited/ credited to the Financing and Investment 
Income and Expenditure line in the CIES. 

Changes in the value of assets carried at fair value (described as Fair Value through Profit or 
Loss) are debited / credited to the Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure line in 
the CIES as they arise. 

Statutory Reversals 

Statutory regulations allow the reversal of impairment losses out of the General Fund Balance 
if the financial instruments are covered by the capital expenditure definition specified in 
regulation 25 of the 2003 Capital Finance Regulations. 

Financial Liabilities 

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost. 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognised when the Council has a present legal or constructive obligation as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Council will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision 
is the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. When recognised, provisions 
are charged as an expense to the appropriate service line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are recognised when the Council enters into an agreement which 
requires it to make specified payments to reimburse the other party to the agreement for a 
loss that party incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in 
accordance with the original or modified terms of a debt instrument. Initial recognition of the 
guarantee is at fair value based on an estimate of the probability of the guarantee being called 
and the likely amount payable 

In subsequent years the fair value of the guarantee is amortised over the period of the 
underlying risk exposure to the extent that the exposure is expected to fall over the life of the 
guarantee. Where payment of the guarantee becomes probable, the fair value of the 
guarantee will be deemed to be equivalent to the amount that would be determined for a 
provision in accordance with International Accounting Standard (IAS) 37, Provisions, 
Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

Inventories 

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, using the first-in, first-out 
(FIFO) method. 

Cost of Support Services 

The 2024/25 Accounting Code of Practice requires the segmental analysis and amounts 
disclosed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement to be based on the 
Council's financial monitoring reporting process. The cost of support services, with the 
exception of those recharged to trading accounts which are required to be disclosed on a total 

41 



cost basis, are not reallocated and are disclosed in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure segment that hosts the support service. 

Contingent Assets & Liabilities 

Contingent assets and liabilities arise from past events but where the future asset or obligation 
are uncertain and cannot be reliably ascertained. Material contingent assets and liabilities are 
disclosed in the Notes to the Accounts but are not provided for in the core financial statements. 

Reserves 

Usable reserves 

Usable reserves are those reserves that can be applied to fund revenue or capital expenditure 
or reduce local taxation. The Council sets aside specific amounts as reserves for future policy 
purposes or to cover contingencies. Earmarked reserves are created by appropriating 
amounts from the General Fund and are separately disclosed in the Usable Reserves note to 
the balance sheet. When expenditure is financed from a reserve, it is charged to the 
appropriate service revenue account in that year, including it in the Surplus or Deficit on the 
Provision of Services as required under the Code. The amounts are subsequently charged to 
the appropriate reserve in the Usable Reserves note. 

All other movements in usable reserves, including adjustments between accounting basis and 
funding basis under regulations, are reported in the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Unusable reserves 

Certain reserves are maintained to manage the accounting process for property, plant and 
equipment, financial instruments, retirement and other employee benefits, the collection of 
council tax / business rates and deferred capital receipts and do not represent resources 
available to the Council. Specific details relating to these reserves are included elsewhere in 
these accounting policies and details on all reserves are included within the reserves note to 
the accounts. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash is represented by cash in hand and deposits with financial institutions repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are highly liquid investments 
that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible to 
known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. In the Cash Flow Statement, 
cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand 
and form an integral part of the Authority's cash management. 

Employee Benefits 

Termination benefits are amounts payable as a result of an authority to terminate an officers 
employment before the normal retirement date or an Officers decision to accept voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for those benefits and are charged on an accruals basis to the 
appropriate Service, or, where applicable to a Corporate Service segment at the earlier of 
when an Authority can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when the authority 
recognises costs for a restructuring. Where termination benefits involve the enhancement of 
pensions, statutory provisions require the General Fund Balance to be charged with the 
amount payable by the Authority to the Pension Fund or pensioner in the year, not the amount 
calculated according to the relevant accounting standards. In the Movement of Reserves 
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Statement appropriations are required to and from the pensions reserve to remove the notional 
debits and credits for pension enhancement termination benefits and replace them with debits 
for the cash paid to the pension fund and pensioners and any such amount payable but unpaid 
at the year end. 

Pensions 

The Council participates in the Hertfordshire Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS), a 
defined benefit scheme operated by Hertfordshire County Council. 

• The liabilities of the LGPS attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet
on an actuarial basis, using the projected unit method.

• Liabilities are discounted to their value at current prices, using a discount rate that is 
based upon the indicative rate of return on a high quality corporate bond of equivalent
currency and term to the scheme's liabilities.

• The assets of the LGPS attributable to the Council are included in the Balance Sheet
at their fair value.

Changes in the net pension liability are analysed into the following components: 

Service Costs: 

• Current service cost - the increase in liabilities as a result of service earned during the
year is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (i.e. to the
services for which the employees worked);

• Past service cost - the increase in liabilities arising from a current year pension scheme
amendment or a curtailment, whose effect relates to years of service earned in earlier
years, is debited to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement; and 

• Gains/losses on settlements - the results of actions to relieve the Council of liabilities
or events that reduce the expected future service or accrual of benefits of employees
are credited or debited to the Surplus/Deficit on the Provision of Services line in the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.

Net interest expense: 

The change during the period in the net pension liability arising from the passage of time. It 
includes interest income on plan assets and interest costs on the pension liability. It is 
calculated by applying the discount rate used to measure the net pension obligation at the 
beginning of the period to the net pension liability at the beginning of the period - taking into 
account any changes in the net pension liability during the period as a result of contribution 
and benefit payments. It is charged or credited to the 'Financing and Investment Income and 
Expenditure' line within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. 

Re-measurements of the net pension liability 

These are recognised as Other Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and are charged to the Pensions 
Reserve. They comprise: 
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TO ACCOUNT,:; 

• Return on plan assets - interest, dividends and other income derived from the
scheme's assets (excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit
liability), together with realised and unrealised gains or losses on those assets, less
costs of managing the assets and any taxes payable;

• Actuarial gains and losses - changes in the net pension liability that arise because
events have not coincided with assumptions made at the last actuarial valuation, or
because the actuaries have updated their assumptions.

Contributions paid to the LGPS 

Cash paid as employer's contributions to the Pension Fund; these are not accounted for as 
an expense within the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Statutory 
provisions restrict the amount that the Council can fund through council tax to the amounts 
actually payable each year, and as a result all other movements are funded by the pension 
reserve, by means of transfers which are reported in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

Short Term Employee Benefits 

Salaries, wages and employment related payments are recognised in the period in which the 
service is received from employees. The cost of annual and flexible leave entitlement earned 
but not taken by employees at the end of the period is recognised in the financial statements 
to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following period. The 
estimation of such costs is based on records of annual and flexible leave taken and contractual 
entitlements to payment. 

Leases 

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease is based upon the 
substance of the arrangement at inception date. 

Since 1 April 2024, the Council accounts for leases in accordance with the International 
Financing Reporting Standard (IFRS) 16 Leases. One of the main changes under the new 
accounting standard is the removal of the distinction between financing or operating leases 
for lessees, for non-exempt leases. All leases and lease arrangements are recognised on the 
lessee's balance sheet as right-of-use assets with corresponding lease liabilities. Leases for 
items of low value and leases which expire within 12 months are exempt from the new 
accounting treatment. 

Council as Lessor 

Finance leases - the council recognises assets held under finance leases as a receivable at 
an amount equal to the net investment in the lease. The lease payment receivable is treated 
as repayment of principal and finance income, with the interest element shown in Interest 
receivable and similar income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and 
the principal element reducing a long term debtor on the Balance Sheet. The finance income 
is calculated so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. The 
asset itself is derecognised from Property, Plant and Equipment. 

Operating leases - items of property, plant and equipment let out under operating leases are 
presented according to the nature of the asset. Income from operating leases is recognised 
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on a straight-line basis over the lease term, even where this does not match the pattern of 
payments. 

Interests in Companies and Other Entities 

The Council is required to produce group accounts alongside its own financial statements 
where it has material interests in subsidiaries, associates and / or joint ventures. Group 
accounts have been prepared including Elstree Studios Ltd and Hertsmere Developments Ltd 
(both 100% owned). In the Council's accounts the interests in companies are recorded as 
investments at cost or fair value. 

Prior Period Adjustments, Changes in Accounting Policies and Estimates and Errors 

Prior period adjustments may arise as a result of a change in accounting policies or to correct 
a material error. Changes in accounting estimates are accounted for prospectively, i.e. in the 
current and future years affected by the change and do not give rise to a prior period 
adjustment. 

Changes in accounting policies are only made when required by proper accounting practices 
or the change provides more reliable or relevant information about the effect of transactions, 
other events and conditions on the Council's financial position or financial performance. Where 
a change is made, it is applied retrospectively (unless stated otherwise) by adjusting opening 
balances and comparative amounts for the prior period as if the new policy had always been 
applied. 

Material errors discovered in prior period figures are corrected retrospectively by amending 
opening balances and comparative amounts for the prior period. 

Value Added Tax 

VAT payable is included as an expense only to the extent that it is not recoverable from His 
Majesty's Revenue and Customs. VAT receivable is excluded from income 

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

Where it becomes probable that the carrying amount of an asset will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than continued use, it is reclassified as an asset held for 
sale. A non-current asset classified as held for sale is measured at the lower of its carrying 
value and fair value less costs to sell at initial reclassification and at the end of each 
reporting period. Any subsequent gains and losses are posted to Other Operating 
Expenditure in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. Assets held for sale 
are only recognised where a property is being actively marketed, and is likely to result in a 
probable sale within 12 months of the balance sheet date. 

Collection Fund 

This account reflects the statutory requirement for billing authorities to maintain a separate 
Collection Fund, showing the transactions of the billing authority in relation to business rates 
and council tax, and illustrates the way in which these have been distributed to preceptors and 
the General Fund, in accordance with relevant legislation. The Collection Fund is consolidated 
with other accounts of the Council, is prepared on an accruals basis and provision is made for 
potential uncollectable amounts and Business Rates appeals. 
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5.2 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted 

The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2023/24 (the Code) 
requires the disclosure of information relating to the expected impact of an accounting change 
that will be required by a new accounting standard that has been issued but not yet adopted. 

Accounting Standards that have been issued but not yet adopted, include: 

• Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2018-2020. The annual IFRS improvement
programme notes 4 changed standards:

• IFRS 1 (First-time adoption) - amendment relates to foreign operations of
acquired subsidiaries transitioning to IFRS

• IAS 37 (Onerous contracts) - clarifies the intention of the standard
• IFRS 16 (Leases) - amendment removes a misleading example that is not

referenced in the Code material
• IAS 41 (Agriculture) - one of a small number of IFRSs that are only expected

to apply to local authorities in limited circumstances.

None of the matters covered in the annual improvements are dealt with in detail in the 
2024/25 Code. During the consultation process on the 2024/25 Code CIPFA/LASAAC 
did not envisage them having a significant effect on local authority financial statements. 

• Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended Use (Amendments to IAS 
16). 

• For the 2024/25 financial year, the Council must implement IFRS 16 Leases, applying
the provisions as they have been adopted in the 2025/26 Accounting Code.

The main impact of IFRS 16 will relate to equipment that the Council holds under
operating leases, for which assets and liabilities are not recognised and lease
payments are generally charged as revenue expenditure when they are payable.
Under IFRS 16, the accounting treatment for all leases (except those with a term of
less than 12 months and those involving low value items) will be to recognise a right-
of-use asset in the balance sheet, measuring the value of the Council's right to use the
equipment over the remaining term of the lease. The Balance Sheet will also include
a liability for the rents payable before the lease expires.

When amounts are paid, they will be applied partly to write down the liability and partly
charged as interest on the outstanding liability. The cost of the right-of-use asset will
be reflected in depreciation charges in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement. However, statutory arrangements are in place that will allow the impact on 
the General Fund Balance to be unchanged - ie, that the overall charge for each year
will be the rents payable in that year.

5.3 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements 

The preparation of accounts in accordance with the Code requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. 

The key areas of judgement and estimation uncertainty routinely applied by management are 
set out in the accounting policies above and in individual notes to the accounts which support 
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the amounts disclosed in the Council's Balance Sheet. In addition, the following critical 
judgements have been applied in preparing the Statement of Accounts: 

• The Council is not represented on the board of lnspireAII, a charitable trust that
operates the leisure facilities owned by the Council and formerly operated by the
Council. Accordingly it has been determined that the Council does not have control of
the Trust and that the Trust is not a subsidiary of the Council.

• The Council has considered its relationships with other entities with which it has 
entered into collaborative arrangements, details of which are given at note 5.38. The
council has concluded that the inclusion of such interests in a set of group financial
statements should only be made where there is a material effect on the Council's
financial position and its obligations and such an effect is therefore material for an 
understanding of its financial affairs. The group financial statements reflect the
combined results of the Council, Elstree Film Studios Limited and Hertsmere
Developments Limited.

• The Council has made provision in its Collection Fund of £ 16.179 million for the future
cost of making repayments of business rates to payers who successfully appeal
against the rateable value of their property as determined by the local Valuation Office
at 1 April 2010 or at a later date. Note 5.26 to the Statement of Accounts discloses the
share of this provision allocated to the Council (£6.471 million -40% of the total).

5.4 Assumptions made about the future and other major sources of estimation 
uncertainty 

The Statement of Accounts contains estimated figures that are based on 
assumptions made by the Council about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. 
Estimates are made taking into account historical experience, current trends and 
relevant factors. However, because balances cannot be determined with certainty, 
actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates. 

The items in the Council's balance sheet at 31 March 2025 for which there is a 
significant risk of material adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows: 
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Item Uncertainties 

Assets are depreciated over useful lives that are dependent on 
assumptions about the level of repairs and maintenance that will be 
incurred in relation to individual assets. 
The current economic climate makes   uncertain that the authority 
will be able to sustain its current spending on repairs and 
maintenance, bringing into doubt the useful lives assigned to assets. 

Property Plant & Assets are valued on a three-year rolling basis.The Council has 
Equipment Property, Plant and Equipment with a carrying value of £189.915 

million on the Balance Sheet as at 31st March 2025, with £2.693 
million charged as depreciation during the year. 

Building indices are not applied to approximate for those assets that 
are not subject to the revaluation process in the year. 

Pensions Liability Estimations of the net liabil y to pay pensions depends on a number 
of complex judgements relating to the discount rate used, the rate 
at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in mortality 
rates and expected returns on pension fund assets. 

The Council concurs with the assumptions to be applied by the 
independent actuary to the Hertfordshire Local Government Pension 
Scheme. 

Non Domestic The provision for NOR Appeals includes an assessment of the 
Rates Appeals appeals lodged to 31st March 2025. The carrying amount of the 
provision provision is £16.179 million, of which the Council's 40% share of 

£6.471 million is reflected in the accounts. 

Rateable value list amendments of £6.430 million were charged 
against the carrying amount of the provision in 2024/25 and an 
additional provision of £2.265 million was made during the year. 

Fair value The fair values of investment properties are principally based on the 
estimations available market evidence for the sale and purchase of similar 

assets. 

Under IFRS 13 fair value hierarchy these have been shown as a 
level 2 input namely using quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets at the balance sheet date. If this 
information is not available estimates are undertaken in accordance 
with RICS professional guidelines. 

5.5 Events after the Balance Sheet Date 

None. 

Effect if Actual Results Different from 
Assumptions 

If the useful life of assets is reduced, depreciation 
increases and the carrying amount of the assets 
falls. 

Based on the assets that were valued in the year 
as part of the three-year rolling revaluation 
programme, any 1 % increase in valuation for 
assets last valued prior to 31/03/2025 would 
equate to the carrying value increasing by 
approximately £0.371 million. 
The valuers have reported the 31/03/2025 valuation 
is not subject to 'material valuation uncertainty' as 
defined by VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS 
Valuation Global Standards. 

The effect on the net pension's liability of changes 
in individual assumptions can be measured. For 
instance, a 0.1 % decrease in the real discount rate 
assumption would result in an increase in the 
pension liability of £0.15 million. 

Note 5.29.5 sets out details of the assumptions 
made by the independent actuary to the 
Hertfordshire Local Government Pension Scheme 
together w h further examples. 
If NOR appeals were to increase significantly the 
provision would have to be increased. The 
increased liability would be shared between the 
Council, Hertfordshire County Council and Central 
Government 

Most estimates are based on current market 
information therefore material changes are not 
expected. 

Significant changes in any of the unobservable 
inputs would result in a significantly lower or higher 
fair value measurement for these assets. 

The council sought assurance from the valuer of the 
appropriateness of the valuations in light of the 
RICS related material uncertainty and the valuer 
reported the 31/03/2025 valuation is not reported 
as being subject to 'material valuation uncertainty' 
as defined by VPS 3 and VPGA 10 of the RICS 
Valuation Global Standards. 
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5.6 Trading Operations 

The Council has established the following two trading units which the service manager is 
required to operate in a commercial environment and balance the unit's budget by 
generating income from other parts of the Council or other organisations. The following 
sums have not been allocated to the relevant services in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. 

2023/24 Expenditure Income 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cemeteries I Burial Grounds 
The Council maintains two closed cemeteries (not 

54 available for burials) and one lawn cemetery that 
201 (218) (17) incurs expenditure - the trading objective is to 

minimise the subsidy funded from council tax. 

Trade Refuse 
The Council has a duty under the Environmental 

(88) Protection Act to provide, where requested, a
508 (637) (129)commercial waste service for which a charge is 

made. 

(34) 709 (855) (146) 

5.7 Other Operating Expenditure 

2023/24 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 
1,479 Parish and town council precepts 1,661 
(282) Net (Gains) on the Disposal of Non-current Assets 1,916 
1,197 3,577 

5.8 Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure 

2023/24 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 

345 Interest Payable and similar charges 313 
489 Net Interest on the net defined Benefit Liability (Asset) 109 

(3,358) Interest (Receivable) and similar income (3,334) 

(502) Net (Gains) and Losses on Fair Value Adjustments on Investment 
210 Properties

(631) Other investment income (657) 

(34) (Surplus)/ deficit on trading undertakings not included in net cost
(146) of services

54 Impairment of financial assets - should be on the face of the CIES 
under revaluation reservemovements

(3,637) (3,505) 
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5.9 Taxation and non-specific grant income 

During the year, the Council credited the following items of taxation, grants and contributions 
to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement: 

2023/24 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 

(8,551) Amount collectable from council tax (8,807) 
(1,479) Amount collectable on behalf of parishes (1,661) 

19 Share of (surplus)/ deficit on collection fund for the year (95) 

(10,011) Council Tax income (10,564) 
(22,333) Amount collectable from business rates (26,022) 
24,371 Tariff payable 25,538 

(234) Share of (surplus) / deficit on collection fund for the year (3,502) 
(1,091) Growth levy 2,383 

(23) Levy Account Surplus Grant (27) 

(3,588) Grant in respect of small business and other rates reliefs (5,304) 
- Pooling Gains 

(2,898) Non-domestic rates income and expenditure (see note (6,934) below): 
(25) New Homes Bonus (468) 
- Lower Tier Services Grant -

(110) Services Grant (49) 
(1,016) Funding Guarantee (873) 
(122) Revenue Support Grant 

(1,273) General Government Grants: (1,390) 
(1,336) Disabled facilities grant (1,138) 
(1,250) Community Infrastructure Levy (1,715) 
(1,242) Section 1 06 monies utilised (808) 
(2,127) Other capital contributions (1,406) 

(5,955) Capital grants and contributions: Recognised capital (5,067) grants and contributions: 
(50) Donated Assets -

(50) Total of Donated Assets in year -
(20,187) (20,187) (23,955) (23,955) 

Note: The total amount of business rates collected by the Council, less certain reliefs and other 
deductions, has been allocated amongst the Council, Hertfordshire County Council as a 
preceptor and MHCLG. The Council's share is subject to a tariff, being the amount by whichthe 
share exceeds the funding level determined by central government as being appropriate to 
the borough's needs. 

The Council's Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement includes a share of any 
surplus or deficit arising for the year on the collection of business rates. 

5.10 Members Allowances and Expenses 

2023/24 Allowance I Expense: 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 
256 Basic allowance 306 
160 Special responsibility allowance 198 

- Travel and other allowance 2 
416 Total For the Year 505 
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5.11 Employees Remuneration 

Under the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015, Local Authorities are required to disclose: 
the remuneration of the council's senior employees, analysed over the following categories: 

2024/25 Notes Salary, Fees Expenses and Allowance 
£'000 £'000 

Chief Executive* 
Executive Director 
Head of Finance & Business Services (S151 Officer) 
Head of Partnerships & Community Engagement 
Head of Legal & Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 
Head of Planning & Economic Development 
Interim Head of Planning & Economic Development 
Head of Street Scene 
Head of Env Health, Licensing & Resilience 
Head of Asset Management & Engineering 
Acting Head of Asset Management & Engineering 
Head of Asset Management & Engineering 

Total 

Notes 
1. Left the Council on 14th February 2025 

177,835 
136,328 
103,272 
100,272 
100,272 

1 79,829 
2 7,723 

91,233 
85,844 

3 22,918 
4 38,906 
5 19,137 

963,SU 

2. Apointed as Interim Head of Service between 15th February 2025 and 27th May 2025 
3. Left the Council on 30th June 2024 
4. Apointed as 'Acting Head of Service' between 1st July 2024 and 5th January 2025 
5. Started on 6th January 2025 

210 
409 

91 

no 

Compensation for Total Pension Total Loss of Office Remuneration Contributions 
£'000 £'000 £'000 t•a 

177,835 34,497 212.332 
136,538 26,320 162,858 
103,68 1 20,345 124,026 
100,272 19,754 120,026 
100,272 19,754 120,026 
79,920 15,726 95,646 
7,723. 1,521 9,244 

91,233 17,973 189,206 
85,844 16,911 102,755 

22,145 45,063 4,192 49,255 
38,906 7,664 41,570 
19,137 3,770 22,907 

22,145 981,424 188,427 1,174,861 
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Prior Year Comparator - 2023/24 

2023/24 

Managing Director* 
Executive Director 
Head o f  Finance & Business Services (5151 Officer) 
Head o f  Partnerships & Community Engagement 
Head of  Legal & Democratic Services (Monitoring Officer) 
Head of  Planning & Economic Development 
Head of  Street Scene 
Head of  Env Health, Licensing & Resilience 
Head of  HR & Customer Services 

Total 

Notes 
1. The tile of the role has since changed to Chief Executive
2. Left the Council on 15th December 2023 

Notes Salary, Fees and Expenses
Allowance 

£'000 £'000 

1 165,283 
127,201 
99,409 

101,415 
96,415 
87,638 
89,276 
79,522 

2 87,368 

933,527 . 

Compensation for Total Pension Total 
Loss of Office Remuneration Contributions 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'GOO 
- 165,283 32,037 197,320 
- 1 27,201 24,510 151,711 
- 99,409 19,535 118,944 
- 101,415 18,994 120,409 
- 98,415 18,994 115,409 
- 87,638 17,245 104,883 
- 89;276 17,587 1e&,863 
- 79,522 15,631 95,153 
- 87,368 8,184 95,552 
. 933,527 172;717 1,186,244 

Employers' contributions to the pension scheme represent the amount determined at the last actuarial valuation as being required to meet the cost of future 
pension accrual. 

The table on the next page shows the number of Council officers whose remuneration exceeds £50,000 per annum grouped into £5,000 bands. 

Remuneration is the amount paid to or receivable by an employee, and includes gross pay (i.e. before deduction of the employee's pension contributions, tax 
and National Insurance), sums due by way of expense allowances, and the estimated monetary value of any additional benefits that are non-cash in their nature. 
Also included, where applicable, are amounts relating to retirement and redundancy lump sum payments and pay in lieu of notice. Contributions made by the 
Council to the pension scheme are not included in this table. 
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2023/24 2024/25 
Number of Remuneration band Number of  
Employees Employees 

9 £50,000-£54,999 14 
3 £55,000-£59,999 $ 
8 £60,000-£64,999 4 
2 £65,000-£69,999 4 
1 £70,000-£74,999 4 
3 £75,000-£79,999 2 
- £80,000-£84,999 -
5 £85,000-£89,999 1 

£90,000-£94,999 1 
2 £95,000-£99,999 
1 £100,000-£104,999 3 

£110,000-£109,999 
£ 110 ,000-£114,999 
£115,000-£119,999 
£120,000-£124,999 

1 £125,000-£129,999 
£130,000-£134,999 
£135,000-£139,999 1 
£140,000-£144,999 
£ 145 ,000-£ 149,999 
£150,000-£154,999 
£ 155 ,000-£159 ,999 
£160,000-£164,999 

1 £ 165 ,000-£169 ,999 
£170,000-£174,999 
£175,000-£179,999 1 

36 Total of Employees 40 

Notes 
1. The 2023/24 figures have been updated to include all employees, including Senior Offficers

earning over 50k 

5.12 Termination Benefits 

The Council terminated the contracts of a number of employees in 2024/25 incurring liabilities 
of £383k (2023/24: £167k). 

The number of contracts terminated ('exit packages') with total cost per band and total cost of 
compulsory and other redundancies are set out in the table below: 

Exit package cost band Number of Compulsory Number of other Total number of exit Total cost of exit 
(including special payments) redundancies departures agreed packages by cost band packages in each band 

31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 31-Mar-24 
Number Number Number Number Number Number £'000 £'000 

Up to £20,000 . 4 3 4 3 33 29 
£20,001-£40,000 . 4 2 4 2 124 52 
£40,001-£60,000 . - . 2 - z . 86 
£60,001-£80,000 . 2 - 2 145 -

£80,001-£100,000 . 1 - 1 81 
Total . 11 7 11 7 383 167 
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5.13 Audit Fees 

The Council has incurred the following costs in 2024/25 in respect of the audit of the 
Statement of Accounts, certification of grant claims and statutory inspections and other 
services provided by the Council's external auditors, KPMG 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000
156 Fees payable for external audit services carried out by the appointed auditor 144
22 Fee Variation 24 
62 Fees payable to external audit in relation to current year grant claims 36 

240 Total 204 

5.14 Adjustment between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations 

The Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shows the Council's actual financial 
performance for the year and is measured in terms of resources consumed and generated. 
However, the Council is required to raise council tax on a different accounting basis with the 
two main differences being as follows: 

• Capital investment is accounted for as it is financed rather than when the asset is 
consumed; and 

• Retirement benefits are charged as amounts become payable to pension funds and 
pensioners rather than as future benefits are earned.

The General Fund contains the excess to date of income over expenditure in the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement. It also takes into account the use of 
reserves built up in the past and contributions to reserves earmarked for future specific 
expenditure. 

The following note details the adjustments that are made to the total comprehensive income 
and expenditure recognised by the Council in the year in accordance with proper accounting 
practice to the resources that are specified by statutory provisions as being available to the 
Council to meet future capital and revenue expenditure. Movements in earmarked reserves 
are set out in note 5.30.2. 
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2023/24 2024/25 

General Fund Capital Capital Grants Movement in General Fund Capital Capital Grants Movement in 

Balance 
Receipts 

Unapplied 
Unusable Balance Receipts 

Unapplied Unusable 
Reserve Reserves Reserve Reserves 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Adjustments Involving the Capital Adjustment Account 
Reversal of items Debited/(Credited) to the CIES: 

(122) 122 Amortisation of intangible assets (129) 129 
(2,524) 2,524 Depreciation (2,713) 2,713 
(13,930) 13,930 Impairment/ Revaluation charged to the CIES (1,890) 1,890 

502 (502) Movements in the market value of Investment Properties (210) 210 
(1,508) 1,508 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute (2,305) 2,305 
(3,290) 3,290 Non-current assets written out on disposal (3,584) 3,584 

- Accumulated gains on non-current assets disposed -
50 (50) Donated Assets -

2,714 (2,714) - Grant income transferred to Capital Grants Unapplied 1,040 (1,040) -
Transfers between revenue and capital resources 

998 (998) Transfer of sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Receipts Reserve 18 (18) () 
2,574 - (2,574) Transfer of sale proceeds from revenue to the Capital Adjustment Account 1,650 (1,650) 
482 - (482) Minimum Revenue Provision 490 (490) 

7,679 - (7,679) Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund 12,940 (12,940) 
- - Adjustment for funding -

Adjustments to capital resources 
- 380 - (380) Use of Capital Receipts to finance capital expenditure 738 (738) 

3,242 - 399 (3,641) Application of capital grants and other contributions to finance capital expenditure 3,826 671 (4,497) 
-

Adjustment primarily involving the Capital Grants Unapplied Account 
Application of Grants to Capital financing transferred to the Capital Adjustment Account for Revenue - -
Expenditure Funded from Capital under Statute 

- Capital Grants & Contributions unapplied credit to the Comp I & E - -

Adjustments Involving the Pensions Reserve: 

(211) Reversal of items relating to Post-Employment Benefrts Debited/(Credited) to the (Surplus)/Deficit on (2,347) 2,347 211 - the Provision of Services in the CIES 
- Employer's Pensions Contributions and Direct Payments to Pensioners Payable in the Year 3,216 (3,216) 

Adjustments between accounting and funding basis under regulations 
2,772 - - (2,772) Council Tax and NNDR (3,566) 3,566 

24 - - (24) Financial Instruments -
(8) - - 8 Holiday Pay (6) 6 

(134) (618) (2,315) 3,066 Total Adjustments 6,431 720 (369) (6,782) 
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5.15 Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
2023/24 

Net Expenditure Adjustments between Net Expenditure in the 
Chargeable to the Funding and Accounting Comprehensive Income 

General Fund Basis and Expenditure 
Statement 

£'000 £'000 £'000 
1,962 (15,156) 17,118 
198 - 198 
527 24 503 
615 12 603 

1,183 57 1,126 
3,584 (14) 3,598 
526 - 526 
977 (1,450) 2,427 

1,544 25 1,519 
1,973 42 1,931 
1,480 (604) 2,084 
2,322 48 2,274 
5,390 (375) 5,765 

22,281 (17,391) 39,672 
(5,370) 17,257 (22,627) 
16,911 (134) 17,045 

(42,736) 
16,911 

(25,825) 

Net Expenditure 
Chargeable to the 

General Fund 

£'000 
Asset Management 3,673 
Audit & Assurance 217 
Executive Directors 513 
Engineering Services 263 
Environmental Health 1,098 
Finance & Business Services 3,469 
General Expenses 1,137 
Housing Services 4,417 
Human Resources & Customer Services 1,556 
Legal & Democratic Services 1,823 
Partnership & Community Engagement 2,622 
Planning & Economic Development 2,211 
Street Scene Services 6,231 

Net Cost of Services 29,228 
Other Income and Expenditure (23,394) 

(Surplus) or Deficit 5,835 
Opening General Fund and HRA Balance (25,825) 

Surplus/(Deficit) on General Fund in year 5,835 
Closing General Fund Balance as at 31 March 2025 (19,990) 

The Adjustments between Funding and Accounting Basis column reflects major adjusting items in respect of: 

2024/25 
Adjustments between Net Expenditure in the 

Funding and Accounting Comprehensive Income 
Basis and Expenditure 

Statement 
£'000 £'000 
2,862 810 
- 217 

(34) 547 
15 247 

(79) 1,177 
(23) 3,491 
(1) 1,138 

1,607 2,810 
(43) 1,599 
(61) 1,884 
745 1,876 
532 1,679 
421 5,810 

5,942 23,286 
489 (23,883) 

6,431 (596) 

• Capital purposes - adding in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in respect of council dwellings and other land and 
buildings; adjusting for the sale of land or buildings; adding in the statutory charge for the repayment of borrowing; adjusting for capital grants received.

• Pensions - removing employer pension contributions allowed by statute and replacing with the current and past costs allowed under international
accounting standards, including interest notionally payable on the actuarial defined pension liability.

• Other - reflecting the timing difference between the forecast of council tax and non-domestic rates to be received which is included in the accounts and 
the actual amounts received.

56 



The Expenditure and Funding Analysis shows for each of the Council's services; 

• the resources actually consumed in the year as measured by proper accounting
practices in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement shown as 
Amounts included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement in the
Expenditure and Funding Analysis

The reasons for differences between the two amounts for each service are explained in the 
tables following the Expenditure and Funding Analysis (5.15.1 Note to the Expenditure and 
Funding Analysis). 

5.15.1 Note to the Expenditure and Funding Analysis 
Adjustments for Net change for Other Total 2024/25 capital purposes pensions differences adjustments (Note 1) adjustments (Note 2) (Note 3) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Asset Management 2,903 (41) 2,862 
Audit & Assurance -
Executive Directors (34) (34) 
Engineering Services 15 15 
Environmental Health 11 (91) 1 (79) 
Finance & Business Services 136 (159) 1 (23) 
General Expenses (1) (1) 
Housing Services (77) 1,684 1,607 
Human Resources & Customer Services 38 (81) (43) 
Legal & Democratic Services (61) (61) 
Partnership & Community Engagement 805 (60) 1 745 
Planning & Economic Development 27 (117) 622 532 
Street Scene Services 797 (268) (108) 421 

Net Cost of Services 4,731 (990) 2,201 5,942 
Other Income and Expenditure 3,934 121 (3,566) 489 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 8,664 (869) (1,365) 6,431 

Comparator 2023/24 
Adjustments for Net change for Other Total 2023/24 capital purposes pensions adjustments differences adjustments (Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 rooo 
Asset Management 15,183 (27) - 15,156 
Audit & Assurance - - - . 
Executive Directors - (24) - (24)
Engineering Services 8 (20) - (12)
Environmental Health 3 (61) 1 (57)
Finance & Business Services 131 (118) 1 14 
General Expenses . 
Housing Services (46) 1,496 1.,450 
Human Resources & Customer Services 33 (59) 1 (25) 
Legal & Democratic Services - (43) 1 (42} 
Partnership & Community Engagement 641 (38) 1 604 
Planning & Economic Development 25 (87) 14 (48) 
Street Scene Services 552 (178) 1 375 

Net Cost of Services 16,576 (701) 1,516 17,391 
Other Income and Expenditure (14,974) 489 (2,772) (17,257) 

Adjustments between funding and accounting basis 1,602 (212) (1,256) 134 
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1) Adjustments for Capital Purposes

This column adds in depreciation and impairment and revaluation gains and losses in the 
Services lines, and for the following items in Other Income and Expenditure: 

• Other operating expenditure - adjusts for capital disposals with a transfer of income
on disposal of assets and the amounts written off for those assets.

• Financing and investment income and expenditure - the statutory charges for capital
financing and other revenue contributions are deducted from other income and
expenditure as these are not chargeable under generally accepted accounting
practices.

• Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure - capital grants are adjusted
for income not chargeable under generally accepted accounting practices. Revenue
grants are adjusted from those receivable in the year to those receivable without
conditions or for which conditions were satisfied throughout the year. The Taxation and
Non Specific Grant Income and Expenditure line is credited with capital grants
receivable in the year without conditions or for which conditions were satisfied in the
year. The gain to the authority on revaluation of donated assets is also credited to this
line.

2) Net Change for the Pensions Adjustments

This column reflects the removal of pension contributions and the addition of IAS 19 Employee 
Benefits pension related expenditure and income: 

• For services this represents the removal of the employer pension contributions made
by the authority as allowed by statute and the replacement with current service costs
and past service costs.

• For Financing and investment income and expenditure - the net interest on the
defined benefit liability is charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement.

3) Other Differences

This includes those other differences between amounts debited/credited to the 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement and amounts payable/receivable to be 
recognised under statute: 

• The charge under Taxation and non-specific grant income and expenditure represents
the difference between what is chargeable under statutory regulations for Council Tax
and NNDR that was projected to be received at the start of the year and the income
recognised under generally accepted accounting practices in the Code. This is a timing
difference as any difference will be brought forward in future Surpluses or Deficits on 
the Collection Fund
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5.15.2 Subjective Analysis 

A subjective analysis of the Council's net cost of services as disclosed in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement is shown in the following 
tables. 

Employees Premises Transport Supplies and Third Party Transfer Depreciation, Income Total 
2024/25 Related Costs Related Related Costs Services Payments payments Impairment 

Expenditure and REFCUS 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Asset Management 1,477 3,369 3 952 380 2,903 (8,273) 810 
Audit & Assurance - 7 210 217 
Executive Directors 530 16 - 547 
Engineering Services (1) 3 42 18 186 15 (14) 247
Environmental Health 1,471 2 9 116 58 11 (490) 1,177
Finance & Business Services 2,935 - 3 1,241 230 23,491 136 (24,546) 3,491 
General Expenses 582 524 53 (22) 1,138
Housing Services 1,392 6 1,105 197 1,684 (1,575) 2,810
Human Resources & Customer Services 1,338 - 169 118 38 (63) 1,599
Legal & Democratic Services 1,534 101 3 1,004 87 (844) 1,884
Partnership & Community Engagement 985 21 2 797 1,130 805 (1,864) 1,876 
Planning & Economic Development 2,633 11 5 631 321 648 (2,571) 1,679 
Street Scene Services 5,209 1,164 1,151 866 695 797 (4,071) 5,810 

Total 20,085 4,670 1,224 7,447 3,664 23,491 7,036 (44,332) 23,286 
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Prior Year Comparator 2023/24 

Employees Premises Transport Supplies and Third Party Transfer Depreciation, Income Total 
2023/24 Related Costs Related Related Costs Services Payments payments Impairment 

Expenditure and REFCUS 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Asset Management 989 1,736 2 8,377 419 - 15,183 (9,588) 17,118 
Audit & Assurance - - - 4 194 - - - 198 
Executive Directors 490 - - 13 - - - - 503 
Engineering Services 354 35 47 21 194 - 8 (56) 603
Environmental Health 1,309 10 8 141 26 - 3 (371) 1,126 
Finance & Business Services 3,130 - 4 927 295 25,454 130 (26,342) 3,598 
General Expenses 115 1 - 449 8 - - (47) 526 
Housing Services 1,150 - 7 932 173 51 1,495 (1,381) 2,427 
Human Resources & Customer Services 1,282 - - 153 112 - 33 (61) 1,519
Legal & Democratic Services 1,411 35 5 762 38 - - (320) 1,931 
Partnership & Community Engagement 935 12 1 874 707 - 641 (1,086) 2,084 
Planning & Economic Development 2,630 17 4 724 338 - 38 (1,477) 2,274 
Street Scene Services 5,233 1,288 749 638 615 - 543 (3,301) 5,765 

Total 19,028 3,134 827 14,015 3,119 25,505 18,074 (44,030) 39,672 
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5.16 Property, Plant & Equipment 

Movements in 2024/25 

Cost Valuation: 
At 1 April 2024 
Adjustments to opening balance 

Additions 
Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 
Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/(Deficit) on 
the Provision of Services 
Reversal of impaiments 
Derecognition - Disposals 
Derecognition - Other 
Ace Dep & Imp WO to GCA 
Assets reclassified 
Other movements in cost or valuation 

Balance as at 31 March 2025 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment: 
At 1 April 2024 
Adjustment to opening balance 

Depreciation Charge 
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of 
Services 
Ace Dep & Imp WO to GCA 
Impairments Recognised in S/D 
Impairments recognised in RR 
Assets reclassified 
Other movements in cost or valuation 

At 31 March 2025 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2025: 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2024: 

Other Land & 
Buildings 

£'000 

178,286 

2,943 

2,920 

(1,614) 

(6) 

(1,717) 

180,812 

(963) 

(1,820) 

1,717 

(1,067) 

179,746 
177,322 

Vehicles, Plant 
& Equipment 

£'000 

a,m 
1,729 

(100) 

10,406 

(4,160) 

(833) 

100 

(4,893) 

5,514 
4,617 

Infra-
structure 

Assets 
£'000 

565 

(9) 

15 

571 

(188) 

(1) 

(189) 

382 
377 

Community 
Assets 

£'000 

2,152 

-
-

2,152 

(474) 

(37) 

(512) 

1,641 
1,678 

Assets Under 
Construction 

£'000 

5,274 

1,706 
-

(275) 

(3,579) 

(491) 

2,634 

(1) 

(1) 

(2) 

2,632 
5,273 

Surplus 
Assets 

£'000 

-
-
-

-

-

-

Total Property 
Plant and 

Equipment 
£'000 

195,054 
-

6,370 

2,935 

(1,890) 
-

(3,685) 
-

(1,717) 
(491) 

-
196,576 

(5,786) 
-

(2,693) 
-

100 

1,717 
-
-
-
-

(6,661) 

189,915 
189,268 
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Prior Year Comparator 2023/24 

Movements in 2023/24 

Cost Valuation: 
At 1 April 2023 
Adjustments to opening balance 

Additions 
Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Revaluation 
Reserve 
Revaluation increases/ (decreases) recognised in the Surplus/(Deficit) on 
the Provision of Services 
Derecognition - Disposals 
Derecognition - Other 
Ace Dep & Imp WO to GCA 
Assets reclassified (to)/from Held for Sale 
Assets reclassified (to)/from investment properties 
Other movements in cost or valuation 

Balance as at 31 March 2024 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment: 
At 1 April 2023 
Adjustment to opening balance 

Depreciation Charge 
Depreciation written out to the Revaluation Reserve 
Depreciation written out to the Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of 
Services 
Ace Dep & Imp WO to GCA 
Impairments Recognised in S/D 
Impairments recognised in RR 

At 31 March 2024 

Net Book Value at 31 March 2024: 
Net Book Value at 31 March 2023: 

Other Land & 
Buildings 

£'000 

176,117 
14 

17,619 

967 

(13,930) 

(2,129) 

(1,706) 

1,333 
178,285 

(889) 
(12) 

(1,777) 

9 

1,706 

(963) 

177,322 
175,228 

Vehicles, Plant 
& Equipment 

£'000 

8,035 
(1) 
992 

(248) 

8,777 

(3,743) 

(665) 

248 

(4,160) 

4,617 
4,292 

Infra-
structure 

Assets 
£'000 

524 
(1) 
42 

565 

(187) 
() 
(1) 

(188) 

377 
336 

Community 
Assets 

£'000 

2,292 
(1) 
85 

(225) 

2,152 

(188) 
(241) 
(45) 

(474) 

1,678 
1,863 

Assets Under 
Construction 

£'000 

4,483 
(12) 

1,781 

355 
(1,333) 
5,274 

(1) 

(1) 

5,273 
4,483 

Surplus 
Assets 

£'000 

-

-

-

-

Total Property 
Plant and 

Equipment 
£'000 

191,451 

20,519 

742 

(13,930) 

(2,377) 
-

(1,706) 
-

355 
-

195,054 

(5,807) 
(253) 

(2,490) 
-

258 

1,706 
-
-
-

(5,786) 

189,268 
186,202 

Assets included in note 5.16 within 'Other Land and Buildings' with a carrying value of £143.4M at 31 March 2025 were revalued in full at the dates shown in the 
table below. Valuations as at 31 March 2025 in accordance with the methodologies and bases for estimation set out in the professional standards of the Royal 
Institute of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) have been carried out on behalf of the Council by Messrs Wilks Head and Eve LLP, Chartered Surveyors. Vehicles, plant, 
and equipment have not been valued because any difference from depreciated historical cost would not be material. 
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5.16.1 Rolling Revaluation 

Carrying value of assets - Based on last valuation date 

Other land and Vehicle, Infrastructure 
buildings plant & assets 

equipment 
£'000 £'000 £'000 

Carried at historical cost 5,514 382 

31-Mar-25 143,407 - -

31-Mar-24 23,483 - -
31-Mar-23 12,856 - -

Prior to 2021 

Gross Book Value 179,746 5,514 382 

5.17 Capital Expenditure and Financing Statement 

Community Assets Under Surplus Total 
assets Construction Assets 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
1,641 2,632 10,169 
- - 143,407 
- - 23,483 
- - 12,856 -

1,641 2,632 - 189,915 

The total amount of capital expenditure incurred in the year is shown in the table below together with the 
resources that have been used to finance it. Where capital expenditure is to be financed in future years 
by charges to revenue as assets are used by the Council, the expenditure results in an increase to the 
Capital Financing Requirement (CFR). The CFR is a measure of the capital expenditure incurred 
historically by the Council that has yet to be financed. 

2023/24 2023/24 
£'000 £'000 

23,152 Opening Capital Financing Requirement 33,690 
Corrections (521) 

Capital Investment: 
20,519 Property Plant and Equipment 6,370 

- Investment Properties -
52 Intangible Assets 633 
1 Heritage -

1,508 Revenue Expenditure funded from Capital under Statute 1,684 
500 Loan to Group Co 

22,580 Total Capital Investment 10,419 

Sources o f  Finance: 
380 Capital Receipts (2,404) 

(3,672) Government grants and other contributions (3,750) 
Section 106 - utilised (840) 

(588) Repayment of  Loan To HLT - HBC Leisure Centre Upgrades (lnspi (572) 
Repayment of Loans from HDL (2,279) 

-
(3,880) Total Source of Finance (9,845) 

Sums set aside from revenue: 
(7,679) - Direct revenue contributions (11,484) 
(482) - MRP (490) 

(8,161) Total Set aside from Revenue (11,974) 

33,690 Closing Capital Financing Requirement 21,769 

Explanation o f  movements in year: 
Increase in underlying need to borrowing (unsupported by 

10,538 Government Financial Assistance) (11,921) 

10,538 lncrease/(Decrease) in Capital Financing Requirement (11,921) 
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5.17.1 Capital Commitments 

As at 31 March 2025 the Council had entered into a number of contracts for enhancement to 
Property, Plant and Equipment and other assets in 2024/25 and future years budgeted to cost 
£20.404 million. Similar commitments at 31 March 2024 were £38.117 million. The major 
commitments are: 

2023/24 Scheme 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 

31,517 Asset Management 11,948 
- Hertsmere Living 3,732 

588 Planning & Economic Development 621 
203 Environmental Health 1,684 

- Housing & Partnerships -
4,460 Street Scene Services 1,621 
1,119 Finance And Business Services 798 
230 Loan to Hertsmere Development Company -

38,117 Total 20,404 

5.18 Leases 

The Council and Right-of-use assets 

Right-of-use assets recognised under leases are accounted for using the policies applied 
generally to Property, Plant and Equipment assets, subject to depreciation being charged over 
the lease term if this is shorter than the asset's estimated life. This will include an estimated 
valuation whee the cost modell does not provide a reliable proxy for the current value of the 
right-to-use asset. 

During 2024/25 a review of assets that could be classed as right-to-use has been undertaken 
and none where found to have any material value. 

The Council as Lessee 

The Council entered into operating lease agreements to acquire the use of equipment. The 
future minimum payments are made up of the following amounts: 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 
£'000 £'000 

8 Not later than one year 8 
11 Later than one year and not later than five years 4 

Later than five years 
19 Total 12 

The expenditure charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement during 
the year comprised: 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25 
£'000 £'000 

4 Minimum lease payments 8 

4 Total 8 
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The Council as Lessor 

Operating Leases 

The council has a license fee arrangement with Elstree Studios Limited (EFS), a 100% owned 
subsidiary company, under which the council receives income for use of premises occupied by 
EFS £3.8m paid in 2024/25 (£5.4m in 2023/24). 

5.19 Heritage Assets 

Heritage assets held by the authority 

Heritage assets comprise the restored Grade II listed Rose Garden in Herkomer Road, Bushey, 
the Borough's war memorials and a small number of paintings and sculptures. In addition, the 
Council holds some items of civic regalia. The collective value of these assets is not considered 
to be material. 

Carrying value 

The following table summarises the movement in the carrying value of heritage assets over 
the year: 

2024/25 Artwork Rose Garden War Memorial Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or Valuation 
Balance at start of year 110 1,354 so 1,514 

Additions - - - -
Revaluation Increase/ (Decrease) -
Recognised in the CIES -

110 1,354 50 1,514 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment 
Balance at start of year - (336) - (336)

Depreciation Charged in Year - (20) - (20)
Impairments recognised to CIES -
Balance at end of year - (356) - (356)

NBV ASAT 31 MARCH 2025 110 997 so 1,157 

Prior Year Comparator 2023/24 

2023/24 Artwork Rose Garden War Memorial Total 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Cost or Valuation 
Balance at start of year 110 1,3S3 so 1,513 

Additions - 1 - .8 
Revaluation Increase/ (Decrease) -
Recognised in the CIES -

110 1,3S4 so 1,S14 

Accumulated Depreciation and Impairment 
Balance at start of year - (313) - (313)

Depreciation Charged in Year - (23) - (23) 
Impairments recognised to CIES -
Balance at end of year - (336) - (336) 

NBV AS AT 31 MARCH 2024 110 1,017 so 1,177 
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5.20 Investment Property 

Rental income from investment property of £657k (2023/24: £691 k) has been accounted for in 
the financing and investment income and expenditure line in the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement. There are no restrictions on the Council's ability to realise the value 
inherent in its investment property or on the council's right to the remittance of income and the 
proceeds of disposal. The Council has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or 
develop investment property or for repairs, maintenance or enhancement. The following table 
summarises the movement in the fair value of investment property over the year: 

2023/24 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 
10,076 Balance at Start of the Year 9,054 

503 Net Gains/ (Losses) on Revaluation (210) 
Write Out of Impairments on Revaluations 

503 Net Gains / (Losses) from Movements in the Market Value of (210) Investment Properties 
- Additions

Impairment
(1,170) Disposals

Derecognition
(355) Reclassifications 491 
9,054 Balance at Year End 9,335 

All the Council's investment property portfolio has been assessed as Level 2 for valuation 
purposes. (See Note 5.1 -Accounting Policies for explanation of fair value levels). In estimating 
the fair value of the Authority's investment properties, the highest and best use of the properties 
is deemed to be their current use. 

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable for the asset (other than quoted prices). They are 
based on the market approach using current market conditions and recent sale prices and other 
relevant information for similar assets in the local authority area. 

Typical valuation inputs which have been analysed in arriving at Fair Valuations include; 

• Market Rental and Sale Values
• Yields
• Void and Letting Periods
• Size
• Configuration, proportions and layout
• Location, visibility and access
• Condition
• Lease covenants
• Obsolescence
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5.21 Intangible Assets 

The movement on Intangible Asset balances during the year is as follows: 

2023/24 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 
1,909 Balance at start of year 1,961 

52 Additions 633 
1,961 2,594 

Amortisation 
{1,537) Balance at start of year (1,659) 
(122) Amortisation Charged in Year (129) 

{1,659) Balance at end of year (1,788) 

302 NBV AS AT 31 MARCH 2025 807 

5.22 Debtors 

The table below shows the amount that was owed to the Council as at 31 March 2025 by third 
parties, together with amounts paid by the Council in advance of receipt of goods or services. 

31-Mar-24 Debtors - Amounts receivable within one year: 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

Financial assets 
4,096 Sundry debtors and accrued income 4,834 
10,169 Due from group companies 500 

549 Other loans (624) 
25 Employee car loans 52 

14,839 Sub Total 4,762 

Non-financial assets and statutory debt 
957 Council tax 2,635 
751 Business rates (834) 
259 HM Revenue and Customs 461 

18,252 Government departments and other local authorities 2,592 
262 Housing Benefits overpaid 2,111 
608 Prepayments 784 

21,091 Sub Total 7,749 
Allowance for doubtful debt {2,213) 

35,930 Total 10,298 

Debtors - Amounts receivable after one year: 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

Financial assets 
2,429 Equity charge on properties 2,429 

32 Employee car loans 46 
500 Loans to subsidiary undertakings 8,336 

5,282 Other loans 6,658 
12 Other 24 

8,255 Sub Total 17,493 
- Allowance for doubtful debt -

8,255 Total 17,493 
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5.23 Investments 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

Long Term Investments: 
491 Investments in Subsidiaries 491 

2,574 Other Investments 2,574
Local Authorities 

3,065 Total Long Term Investments 3,065

Short Term Investments: 
Banks 

25,449 Local Authorities 20,000 

25,449 Total Short Term Investments 20,000 

Investments were held as follows: 

The Council's investment in subsidiaries comprises 491,100 ordinary shares of £1 each in 
Hertsmere Developments Limited and 1 ordinary share of £1 in Elstree Film Studios Limited. 
Both Hertsmere Developments Limited and Elstree Film Studios Limited are 100% owned by 
the Council. 

Other long term investments comprise: 
• Hertsmere Living Limited - equity share capital of £2.57 4m representing a 50% holding

in this joint venture stock holding company
• One £1 (12.5%) share in Broste Rivers Ltd which is the holding company of Hertfordshire

Building Control Ltd (2023: £1 - 12.5%).
• 14% of the ordinary shares of £1 each issued by Hertfordshire CCTV Partnership Limited

(2023: 14%).
• 20,000 shares of £0.01 each in UK Municipal Bonds Agency PLC (2023/24: £200).

The average interest rate received on core investments during the year was 4.5% (2023/24: 
4.57%). Short-term investments are held for periods of one year or less. 

5.24 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

The balance of cash and cash equivalents is made up of the following elements: 

31-Mar-24 Cash and Cash Equivalents 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

Cash held by Officers 
745 Bank Current Accounts 1,460

18,886 Call Deposit and Money market Funds 29,979
4,480 Short Term Deposits 3,300

24,111 Total Cash and Cash Equivalents 34,739
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5.25 Creditors 

The table below shows the amount that the Council owed as at 31 March 2025 to third parties, 
together with amounts received by the Council in advance of supply of goods or services. 

31-Mar-24 Amounts payable within one year: 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

Financial assets 
(12,492) Sundry creditors (6,787) 

- Due to group companies -
(12,492) Sub Total (6,787) 

Non-financial assets and statutory 
(141) Accrual for accumulated absences (note 5.31.6) (147) 
(297) HM Revenue and Customs - payroll taxes (306) 

(28,671) Due to government departments and other Local Authorities (23,387) 
(3,479) Receipts in advance

(32,589) Sub Total 

(45,081) Total included in current Liabilities 

31-Mar-24 Amounts payable after one year: 
£'000

Financial assets 
(100) Other creditors
(100) Sub Total

5.26 Provisions 

24/25 Provisions Municipal Mutual 
Insurance 

£'000 

Opening Balance (58) 
lncrease/(decrease) in provision during year 
Amounts used 

Sub Total (58) 

5.27 Capital Grants Received in Advance 

Business Rates 
Appeals 

£'000 

(8,138) 
(906) 
2572 

(6,471) 

(3,884) 

(27,724) 

(34,511) 

31-Mar-25
£'000

(75) 
(75) 

Herts Building Total Control Ltd Losses 
£'000 £'000 

(8,196) 
(906) 
2,572 

. (6,530) 

The Council has received a number of grants and contributions, known as Section 106 receipts 
that have yet to be recognised as income as they have conditions attached to them that would 
require the monies to be returned to the giver in the event of non-compliance with the conditions. 
Pending application to the relevant projects, these grants are held on the balance sheet as 
capital grants received in advance. 

Section 106 receipts are amounts paid to the Council by developers as a result of the granting 
of planning permission where improvement or new facility works are required as part of the 
condition of granting the planning permission. The responsibility to carry out the works is with 
the Council, however the monies are restricted to being spent only in accordance with the 
agreement concluded with the developer and are repayable in the event that there are surplus 
funds remaining following completion of the contract or that the project is ceased following the 
agreement of both parties. 
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The balances at the year-end are as follows: 

31-Mar-24 Receipts in Advance S106 Monies 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

(8,610) Balance at 1 April (7,724)
(102) New grants received in advance (826)
(345) Receipt in lieu of interest (312)
1,333 Application of grants used in year 1,397
- Amounts repaid -

(7,724) Balance at 31st March (7,464)

Interest in lieu is allocated to S106 balances whilst they are held on deposit by the Council. 

5.28 Financial Instruments 

Financial Instruments comprise contractual positions that gives rise to a financial asset of one 
entity and a financial liability (or equity instrument) of another. 

Financial assets whose contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding and are held within 
business model whose objectives are achieved by collecting contractual cash flows are carried 
at amortised cost. 

The Council's financial liabilities are carried at amortised cost with no change in carrying 
amounts. 

Impairment Loss Allowances 
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments requires impairment of financial assets carried at amortised cost 
to be based on forward-looking expectations (expected credit losses). The Council has used 
the following criteria to arrive at loss allowances. 

Financial Asset Criteria 

Based on the Council's approach to credit risk arising from deposits with banks and 
financial institutions which are detailed below, all deposits held at 31 March 2025 are 

Investments, cash considered to have low credit risk. Therefore 12 month expected credit losses have 

and cash equivalents been calculated applying risk factors provided by the Council's treasury management 
advisers. These are not material and have not been reflected in the core financial 
statements. No allowance is required for deposits with central government and other 
local authorities as relevant statutory provisions prevent default. 

Financial assessment prior to loan advance, financial performance and position of the 
third party or group company, internal information e.g. attendance at board meetings 
and any relevant external information. The Covid-19 pandemic required the Council to 
review the level of expected credit loss applicable to a loan to a third party that 
manages the Council's leisure centres. The loan was advanced to enhance leisure 

Loans to businesses centre revenue generating activities which would finance loan repayments. The 
and group companies Council supports the view of the third party management team that a combination of 

their support measures and overall management will enable the company to fully 
recover from the pandemic and repay the loan in full over the agreed extended 
period. The Council has therefore maintained the level of expected credit loss at 4% 
(2024: £151k, 2023: £175k) and this amount has been earmarked against the 
Council's usable capital receipts (£5.756m at 31 March 2025). 

The expected lifetime credit loss allowance is based on the provision matrices 

Trade receivables policies applied by the Council. This calculation, based on the age of debt 
outstanding, is adjusted for any improving or worsening position applicable to specific 
debtors. 
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Financial Instruments by Category 
The following categories of financial instruments are carried in the Balance Sheet. 

2023/24 2024/25 
Amortised Fair Value Non Financial Balance Sheet Financial Amortised Fair Value Non Financial 

Costs through CIES Instruments Carrying Instruments Costs through CIES Instruments 
Balances Amounts Impairment Balances 

Allowance 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Financial Assets - - 3,065 3,065 (20) Long Term Investments 3,065 
5,826 2,429 - 8,255 (128) Long Term Debtors 6,753 10,740 
13,250 - - 20,449 - Short Term Investments 20,000 
12,856 - 21,090 34,340 (624) Short Term Debtors 10,298 
29,111 - - 29,111 - Cash and Cash Equivalents 34,739 

Financial Liabilities
(4,824) - (32,900) (37,724) - Short Term Creditors (34,511) 
(100) - - (100) - Other Long term Liabilities (75) 

For those assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost such carrying amounts provide a reliable estimate of fair value. 

Income, Expense, Gains and Losses 
The following gains and losses arose in 2024/25 in relation to financial instruments. 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
Financial Instruments Financing and Investment Income and Expenditure Financial Instruments 

£'000 £'000 
Interest payable and similar charges 

(3,358) Interest receivable and similar income (3,334) 

54 Impairment of Financial Assets -
(3,304) (3,334) 

Balance Sheet Financial 
Carrying Instruments 
Amounts Impairment 

Allowance 
£'000 £'000 

3,065 (20) 
17,493 (128) 
20,000 
10,298 (727) 
34,739 

(34,511) 
(75) 
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. Changes in Expected Credit Losses 

2024/25 
Allowance at Allowance for assets Allowance for Allowance at 
1 April 2024 originated or acquired assets 31 March 

derecognised 2025 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Long Term Investments 
Lifetime credit losses -

Loans to businesses and group companies 
12-month credit losses (20) (20) 

Deposits with banks and building societies 
12-month credit losses (151) - (151) 

Trade receivables 
Grouped assets (601) (103) (704) 

Total loss allowances (772) (103) (875) 

Credit Risk Exposure 

The Council had the following exposure to credit risk at 31 March 2025. 
2024/25 

Gross 
Low Medium High Carrying 

Amount 
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Deposits with banks and building societies 
12-month credit losses 33,000 33,000 

Loans to businesses and group companies 
12-month credit losses 20,000 20,000 
Lifetime credit losses 

Trade receivables 
Grouped assets Not subject to credit rating -

Total amount exposed to credit risk 53,000 . 53,000 

Credit Risk arising from deposits with Banks and Financial Institutions 

This risk is minimised through the Council's Treasury Management Strategy. The Council's 
investment policy has regard to the Department of Levelling Up, Housing and Communities' 
(DLUHC) Guidance on Local Government Investments ("the Guidance"), the CIPFA Treasury 
Management in Public Services Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes 2017 
("the CIPFA TM Code") and CIPFA Treasury Management Guidance Notes 2018. 

The Council uses the creditworthiness service provided by its Treasury consultants; Link Asset 
Services. This service has been progressively enhanced over recent years and now uses a 
sophisticated modelling approach with credit ratings from all three rating agencies - Fitch, 
Moodys and Standard and Poors, forming the core element. However, it does not rely solely 
on the current credit ratings of counterparties but also uses the following as overlays: 

• credit watches and credit outlooks from credit rating agencies
• CDS spreads to give early warning of likely changes in credit ratings
• sovereign ratings to select counterparties from only the most creditworthy countries .

As well as using the Link Asset Services' matrix, the Council will limit its exposure to any one 
particular Institution or group of banks. The Council will adopt a tiered exposure using Fitch long 
term (or equivalent from other agencies if Fitch does not provide) to determine the amount of 
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funds placed with each institution. The table below shows counterparty investment limits for 
2024/25 and deposits placed at 31 51 March 2025. 

2024/25 

Maximum Investment as at Call deposits at 31 March

Investment 31 March 2025 2025 (included in cash and
cash equivalents) 

£'000 £'000 £'000 
Higher Quality Rated Banks-rating AAA, AA+, AA and AA- £10m 

UK Medium Quality Rated Banks and Building Societies - rating A+, A £6m 1 deposit not exceeding 
Councils banker limit 

Medium Quality Rated Non UK Banks - rating A+, A £4m 

Local Authorities £10m 4 deposits not 
individually 

Part nationalised banks £10m 

Unrated Building Societies or with rating below A - min £3B Asset Size £3m 

Barclays Bank - Council's banker £5m 

Money market funds - AAA £10m 3 deposits not individually 
exceeding £10m 

Enhanced Money market funds - AAA £8m 
Debt Management Account Deposit Facility Unlimited 

Credit Risk arising from the Council's exposure to other debtors 

Credit risk can arise from the Council's exposure to other debtors excluding amounts due from 
government and public institutions. In addition to known specific issues the Council has 
applied the following criteria when calculating allowances for credit risk in respect of trade 
receivable debt. 

2024/25 
Age (Days) A

l
lowance 

Trade Receivable 0-30 31-60 61-90 90-180 180-365 Over 365 at 31 March 2025 
% % % % % % £000's 

Other - 15 30 50 80 100 (490) 

Garage Rents - - 40 60 80 80 (10) 
Parking Provision is made based on age of Penalty Charge Notices. (101) 

Total Allowance (601) 

Liquidity Risk 

This is the risk that cash will not be available when it is needed, that ineffective management of 
liquidity creates additional unbudgeted costs, and that the organisation's business/service 
objectives will be thereby compromised. The Council ensures it has adequate though not 
excessive cash resources, borrowing arrangements or standby facilities to enable it at all times 
to have the level of funds available to it which are necessary for the achievement of its business 
/ service objectives and will only borrow in advance of need where there is a clear business 
case for doing so and will only do so for the current capital programme or to finance future debt 
maturities. 

As the majority of its investments are short term deposits, which are available at relatively short 
notice, there is no significant risk that the Council will be unable to raise finance to meet its 
commitments under financial instruments. 
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THE ACCOUNTS 

Interest Rate Risk 

This is the risk that fluctuations in the levels of interest rates create an unexpected or 
unbudgeted burden on the Council's finances, against which it has failed to protect itself 
adequately. The Council manages its exposure to fluctuations in interest rates with a view to 
containing its interest costs or securing its interest revenues. It achieves this by the prudent use 
of its approved financing and investment instruments, methods and techniques, primarily to 
create stability and certainty of costs and revenues, but at the same time retaining a sufficient 
degree of flexibility to take advantage of unexpected, potentially advantageous changes in the 
level or structure of interest rates. 

The Council only invests in fixed rate investment products in order to minimise its exposure to 
interest rate risk. 

Price Risk 

The Council does not invest in equity shares and therefore is not exposed to losses arising from 
movement in the price of shares. 

Foreign Exchange Risk 

The Council has no financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies and therefore 
has no exposure to loss arising from movements in exchange rates. 

5.29 Defined Benefit Pension Scheme 

Participation in Pension Schemes 

As part of the terms and conditions of employment of its staff, the council makes contributions 
towards the cost of post-employment benefits. Although these benefits will not be payable until 
the employees retire, the Council has a commitment to make the payments for the benefits and 
to disclose them at the time that the employees earn their future entitlement. 

The Council participates in the Hertfordshire Local Government Pension Scheme which is 
administered by Hertfordshire County Council. This is a funded defined benefit scheme, 
meaning that the council and employees pay contributions into a fund, calculated at a level 
intended to balance the pension liabilities with investment assets. 

Discretionary Post-retirement Benefits 

Discretionary post-retirement benefits on early retirement may be awarded. This is an unfunded 
defined benefit arrangement under which liabilities are recognised when the award is made. No 
plan assets build up to meet these liabilities. 

Transactions Relating to Post-employment Benefits 

The Council has recognised the cost of retirement benefits in the reported cost of services when 
earned by employees, rather than when the benefits are eventually paid as pensions. However, 
the charge that is required to be made against council tax is based on the cash payable in the 
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year, so the real cost of  post-employment/retirement benefits is reversed out of  the General 
Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement. 

The following transactions have been included within the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement and the General Fund via the Movement in Reserves Statement during 
the year: 

5.29.1 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement 
2023/24 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (CIES) £'000 

Cost of Services: 
Service cost comprising: 

2,279 Current service cost 
Past service cost 
Finance and investment income and expenditure: 

489 Net interest expense 

2,768 Total post-employment benefits charged to the surplus or deficit on the 
provision of services 

Other post-employment benefits charged to the Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure Statement: 

Re-measurement of the net defined liability comprising: 
(4,443) Return on plan assets (excluding the amount included in the net interest expense) 
(4,999) Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in financial assumptions 
(719) Actuarial (gains) and losses arising on changes in demographic assumptions 
3,599 Other experience (gains) and losses 
3,388 Changes in the effect of the asset ceiling 

(3,174) Total post-employment benefit gains/(losses) charged to the CIES 

5.29.2 Movement in Reserves Statement 

2023/24 
£'000 

{2,768) Reversal of net charges made to the Surplus or Deficit on the Provision of Services 
for post-employment benefits in accordance with the Code 

Actual amount charged against the General Fund for pensions for the year: 

2,279 Employer's contributions payable to the scheme 

5.29.3 Pensions Assets and Liabilities recognised in the Balance Sheet 

2024/25 
£'000 

2,238 

272 

2,510 

4,621 
(14,064) 
(1,928) 
(762) 

21,051 

8,918 

2024/25 
£'000 

{2,510) 

3,216 

The amount included in the Balance Sheet arising from the Council's obligation in respect of its 
defined benefit pension plan is as follows: 

2023124 2024/25 
£'000 £'000 

{113,487) Present value of defined benefit obligations (99,559) 
109,623 Fair value of scheme assets 108,697 
(3,388) Effect of the asset ceiling (24,602) 

{7,252) Net liability arising from defined benefit obligation (15,464) 
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The following table reconciles the present value of the scheme's defined benefit obligations and 
the fair value of the scheme assets: 

2023/24 Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligations: 
£'000 

(112,577) As at 1 April 

(2,279) Current service cost 
Past service cost 

(5,294) Interest cost 
(693) Contributions by scheme members

Re-measurement gains and (losses):
719 Actuarial gains and (losses) arising on changes in demographic assumptions 

4,999 Actuarial gains and (losses) arising on changes in financial assumptions 
(3,599) Other experience gains and (losses) 
5,237 Benefits paid 

(113,487) Closing balance at 31 March 

2023/24 Fair Value of Scheme Assets: 
£'000 

101,940 As at 1 April 

4,805 Interest Income 
693 Contributions by scheme members 

2,979 Contributions by employer 

Re-measurement gains and (losses): 
4,443 Return on plan assets excluding the amount included in the net interest expense 

Other experience gains and (losses) 
(5,237) Benefits paid 
109,623 Closing balance at 31 March 

5.29.4 Pension Fair Values Scheme Assets 

2024/25 
£'000 

(113,487) 

(2,238) 

(5,335) 
(744) 

1,928 
14,064 

762 
5,491 

(99,559) 

2024/25 
£'000 

109,623 
5,226 
744 

3,216 

(4,621) 

(5,491) 
108,697 

The fair values of scheme assets are made up of the following types of investments by 
proportion of total assets held: 

Period Ended 31 March 2025 
Asset Breakdo\llln Quoted Unquoted 

% % 

Fixed Interest Government  Securities UK 2 %
Overseas 1 %

Index Linked Government  Securites - UK UK 10% 
Overseas 

Corporate Bonds - UK UK 3 %
Overseas 4 %

Equities UK 1 %
Overseas 26% 

Property 13% 
Hedge fund 5 %
Private Equity 9 %
Infrastructure 2 %
Unit trust 19% 
Derivatives 0 %
Insurance Linked Stratergies 1 %
Private Credit 1 %
Cash/Temporary Investments 3 %

Net Current Assets Debtors 
Creditors 

Total 69.0% 31.0% 
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5.29.5 Basis for estimating Assets and Liabilities 

Liabilities have been assessed on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit method 
which provides an estimate of the pensions that will be payable in future years dependent on 
assumptions about such factors as mortality rates and salary levels. 

The estimated liabilities are based on a formal valuation as at 31 March 2022 and are updated 
to the current year by Barnett Waddingham, the independent actuary to Hertfordshire Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 

The principal assumptions used by the actuary are as follows: 

2023/24 Life expectancy from age 65 (years) 

Retiring today: 
21.9 Men 
24.2 Women 

Retiring in 20 years: 
22.3 Men 
25.8 Women 

Rates of Inflation 
2.80% CPI 
3.30% Rate of increase in salaries 
4.80% Rate of discounting scheme liabilities 

A commutation allowance is included for future retirements to elect to take 
45.00% 45% of the maximum additional tax-free cash up to HMRC limits. 

31 March 
2024 

Financial assumptions: 
2.8% Rate of increase in inflation / pension cost 

3.30% Rate of increase in salaries 
4.8% Rate for discounting scheme obligations 

A commutation allowance is included for future 
45% retirements to elect to take 45% of the maximum 

additional tax-free cash up to HMRC limits. 
Mortality assumptions: 
Longevity at 65 for current pensioners (years) 

21.9 Men 
24.2 Women 

Longevity at 65 for future pensioners (years) 
22.3 Men 
25.8 Women 

2024/25 

21.2 
24.1 

21.9 
25.2 

2.90% 
3.90% 
5.80% 

45.00% 

31 March 
2025 

2.9% 
3.9% 
5.8% 

45% 

21.2% 
24.1% 

21.9% 
25.2% 

The estimation of the defined benefit obligations is sensitive to the actuarial assumptions as set 
out in the table above. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on 
reasonably possible changes of the assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period 
and assumes that for each change the assumption analysed changes whilst all other 
assumptions remain constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be interrelated. The estimations in the sensitivity analysis have followed the 
accounting policies for the scheme, i.e., on an actuarial basis using the projected unit credit 
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method. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did 
not change from those used in the previous period. 

Approximate Impact on the Defined Benefit Obligation in the Scheme 
Percentage Increase to Monetary Increase to 

0.1 % decrease in Real Discount Rate 

1 year increase in member life expectancy 

0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate 

Impact on the Council's Cash Flows 

Employer Liability Employer Liability 
% £0 

2% 
4% 

0% 

1,683 
1,687 

1,628 

The objectives of the scheme include that of keeping the employers' contributions at as 
constant a rate as possible. The County Council has agreed a strategy with the scheme's 
actuary to achieve a funding level of 100% over a 20 year period. The Council is participating 
in this strategy in order to contribute to meeting the scheme deficit while maintaining 
contribution ratet their current levels at least until the next triennial valuation as at 31 March 
2025. Meanwhile funding levels are monitored on an annual basis. 

It is estimated that the Council will contribute approximately £3.210 million to the Local 
Government Pension Scheme during the year ending 31 March 2026. 

2021 2022 2023 2024 As at 31 March 2025 
£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

(147,583) (150,887) (112,577) (113,487) Present value of defined benefit obligations (99,559) 
104,640 110,561 101,940 109,623 Fair value of employer assets 108,697 

(42,943) (40,326) (10,637) (3,864) Deficit(-)/ Surplus(+) in the scheme 9,138 

The defined benefit obligations show the underlying commitments that the Council has in the 
long term to pay retirement benefits. The total liability has a substantial negative impact on the 
net worth of the Council as recorded in the Balance Sheet; however, the short term effect of this 
liability will be minimal as statutory arrangements permit the Council to reduce the deficit by 
making increased contributions over the remaining working life of employees, as assessed by 
the scheme's Actuary. 

On 25 July 2024, the Court of Appeal dismissed the appeal in the case of Virgin Media Limited 
v NTL Pension Trustees II Limited and others. The appeal was brought by Virgin Media Ltd 
against aspects of the High Court's ruling handed down in June 2023 relating to the validity of 
certain historical pension changes due to the lack of actuarial confirmation required by law. 
The Court of Appeal upheld the High Court's ruling. The ruling may have implications for other 
UK defined benefit plans. It is understood this would apply to the Local Government Pension 
Scheme and HM Treasury is currently assessing the implications for all public service pension 
schemes. No further information is available at this stage. 
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5.30 Usable Reserves 

Usable Reserves are those reserves that the council can use to provide services, subject to 
the need to maintain a prudent level of reserves and any statutory limitations on their use (e.g. 
the Capital Receipts Reserve can only be used to fund capital expenditure or to repay debt). 

31-Mar-24 Note 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000
(8,751) General Fund 5.30.1 (8,979) 
(17,074) Earmarked Reserves (General Fund) 5.30.2 (11,011) 
(5,756) Capital Receipts Reserve 5.30.3 (5,036) 
(22,269) Capital Grants and Contributions Unapplied 5.30.4 (22,637) 
(53,849) (47,663) 

5.30.1 General Fund 

The General Fund represents resources available to finance future running costs of the 
Council. Any surplus or deficit arising during the year from ordinary activities is transferred to 
the reserve, which subsequently may be used for future revenue or capital financing. The 
movements in the reserve during the year are summarised below and on the Movement in 
Reserves Statement. 

31-Mar-24 Note 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000 

(8,520) Balance at 1 April (8,751) 
17,043 (Surplus) / deficit on provision of services 4.2 (596) 
(134) Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulation 5.14 6,431 

(17,141) Transfers to (from) earmarked reserves 5.30.2 (6,062) 
(8,751) (8,979) 

5.30.2 Earmarked Reserves 

Earmarked Reserves represents that part of the General Fund retained voluntarily for use on 
specific projects or causes. A summary of the movement in the reserves during the year is as 
follows: 

31-Mar-24 Note 31-Mar-26
£'000 £'000 

(34,215) Balance at 1 April (17,074) 
17,141 Transfers to (from) earmarked reserves 5.30.2 6,062 

(17,074) (11,012) 
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A brief description of those significant reserves disclosed is shown below: 

General Fund Reserves 
(Earmarked) Purpose/Description 

3 Valleys W a y  Play Area Developer contributions for  the maintenance and upkeep o f  new play areas. 
3 Valleys W a y  Swale Developer contributions for  the maint na  -   -  _tpkeep o f  suds/swale ar.ea :----·-·--··-··--·---··-·-

.. 

J 
Building Reserve To  fund maintenance costs in excess o f  revenue budget provision. 
Business rates equalisation To  fund shortfalls in business rates generation. - - - - - - i 

Used to fund the 2020/21 collection fund deficit that has arisen due-to the C ov id - 1i p-a nd em ic a nd 1 
C o lle c t io n fund deficit spread over the three years in accordance with legislation. - - - ·  

,_c_C T V_ R_e s_e rve _ _ _ _ _ _  T_ o_f_un_d _the_f_ut_ure p_ro_vi_sio_n_of_the management and maintenance o f  the councirs 'ccnTservice. ·1 
1 -C _iv ic_ O_ f f_ice_ s_S_ink_ing- = - -F u_nd _ _ _ _  P_rop, _e__,rty' - -&_ e_ ! ,q u...:..ip_me_ n_t r_ , _e p la ce m e nt reserve for the C iv ic Offices.----·--------····---------- ___ j 

   0  ,
l
 W i£n  rensrorr·--

Funds set aside to cover the future cost o f  the corporate c o n s u l t a t i o n s . _ _ _ _ _ _  __ ·-- -
.c.,.,.i.__ To  meet any future shortfall in pension fund deficit and any strain in the pension fund . . . . .  ---- ... _ i 
EFS Sinking Fund To  fund repairs and maintenance costs at Elstree Film Studios... . . . . . . . .  _ · · - · · · - ___ j 
Elections Reserve To  fund future Hertsmere local elections and by-elections. · · · · · - - - - · - - - - - - · - !
Emergency Funding For acquiring land o r  property to secure assets for the benefit o f  the C o unc il. 
Engineering Sinking Fund To  fund vehicle and equipment replacement. _ _ _ _ _ _ _  -______ - l 
E W C Housing Zone Government funding to deliver the Elstree W a y  C o rr o r ...   s i ng  zone. ···--·-··--··· . 
Fishers Park Play Area Developer contributions for  the maintenance and upkeep o f  new play areas. ____ . _ _ . _  _____ __,__ _________ ..,___,_, _ _.,_...,__ _ _  . , _ . - ,  ...... _ .. , .. , ... ,, ........ , .. , ,  ... . 

Funds ring fenced for three years to  support increased homeless prevention as defined by Flexible Homeless Support Homeless Reduction Act. 
Garages Sinking Fund To  fund major reapairs or  maintenance costs in excess o f  revenue budget provision... . ·-·· 
Housing & C o unc il Tax Benefit 
Equalisation Account To  fund any shortfall in government grant for benefits. 

1-H_um_a_n R_e_so_ur_ce_s_str_at __ eg= -y _ _ +-T_o f_un_d_re_du_nd_an_cy' - - 'p_a y, _m_e_nts o r  any unusual staffing costs ..... - - - · · · · · · - - - - · - - - · ·  .. ··---··-··-··-·-----·· 
Information Services Infrastructure 
Replacement Funds major Information Technology infrastructure projects. 

! - . . . ! . - - - - - · - - - - · · - - - - + · · · · · - - · - · - - - - - - - - - · - - - - · - · · · · · · - - - - - · - - - - - - .............. , .. , . .  , .. . 
Innovation & Investment fund To  fund invest to  save projects. .. 
LOS reserve To  fund the costs associated with bringing the Local Development Plan forward for adoption. 

1 - - - - - • • - • - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - • - " •  •  • ' - - - - • ~ -  •  = - " " = v " = e e •   - = -  , •  - = - = = • - •   ' S - ' " " '  ' ,   - < • ' - ' '  _ _  .,.,,. -•--• ••N''°"" --•~" • "'~-•""s<  

Minor revenue grants A miscellany o f  grants to fund minor projects. 
New Homes Bonus Equalisation 
Reserve To  guard the revenue budget against declining government grants. 

- - - - - - - - - - + - - - - - - - -  · - · - - · - - - - · - - .. ---.... " ' " - - - - - - - · - · " - · • " " ' " " " • • < - - ·  . .  • • - - - - · - - "  ... . 

Non-recurring Items Used to fund schemes such as DFG grants. , - - · - - - · - - - - - - - - - · ·  ............ . 
Parking Repairs & Renewals C ove rs the cost o f  car park resurfacing, mach i      .  equipment rep lac  l l ]    : . - - - - - · - · · ·  ............. . 
Parks Play Equipment To  cover the cost o f  the replacement o!.PJ Y equipment. ---------·-- .... .  . 
Recycling Initiatives Reserve to fund recycling initiatives such as the introduction o f  recycling into fla!_s. - - · · · - - - ·  .. ········ 
Strategic C a ta ly s t Reserve To  fund feasibility costs in relation to strategic s i t e s · - - - · - - - - - · - - - - - - · -
U_ni_ns_ure_d_L_os_se_s _re_se_rv_e - - + T _ o _ f u _ n d _ a  y  uninsured losses incurred  -  .   .n.pJI:... - · · · - - - - - - - · - ·  ·--·-- -·--·----··---•····-·-·----.. ----... __ .. __ . 
Waste Services Vehicles 
Replacement Used to  fund the replacement o f  the Street Scene service vehicles. 
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The table below shows the reserve balances held at 31 March 2025 and the amounts transferred from I to the General Fund in order to meet future I current 
expenditure. 

Balance as at Transfers Balance as at Transfers Balance as at 
31 March 2023 2023/24 31 March 2024 2024/25 31 March 2025 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
General Fund: 

3 Valleys Way Play Area (201) - (201) 7 (194) 
3 Valleys Way Swale (132) 2 (130) 5 (125) 
Building Reserve (200) (114) (314) 293 (21) 
Business rates equalisation (8,248) 7,093 (1,155) 1,155 () 
Collection fund deficit (449) 449 - - -
CCTV Reserve (129) 49 (80) (13) (93) 
Civic Offices Sinking Fund - - - (8) (8) 
Corporate Consultation (202) 12 (190) 35 (155)
Council Contribution to Pension Fund (145) 72 (73) 54 (19) 
EFS Sinking Fund (200) 102 (98) 98 -
Elections Reserve (152) 152 - (24) (24) 
Emergency Funding (1,496) 1,496 - - -
Engineering Sinking Fund (249) 21 (228) 62 (166) 
EWC Housing Zone (155) 42 (113) 91 (22) 
Fishers Park Play Area (103) - (103) 10 (93) 
Flexible Homeless Support (243) (3) (246) 246 -
Garages Sinking Fund (189) (73) (262) (35) (297) 
Housing & Council Tax Benefit Equalisation Account (1,749) 260 (1,489) 1,315 (174) 
Human Resources strategy (316) 146 (170) 170 -
Information Services - Infrastructure Replacement (180) 110 (70) 70 -
Innovation and Investment Fund (1,515) 1,515 - - -
LDS reserve (455) 114 (341) (2,296) (2,637) 
Minor revenue grants (2,287) (799) (3,086) 674 (2,412) 
New Homes Bonus Equalisation Reserve (3,834) - (3,834) 2,532 (1,302) 
Non-recurring Items (1,038) 15 (1,023) 827 (196) 
Parking Repairs & Renewals (1,068) (100) (1,168) 482 (686) 
Parks Play Equipment (166) (9) (175) (130) (305) 
Recycling Initiatives (894) 400 (494) 375 (119) 
Strategic Asset Investment Catalyst - - - (1,634) (1,634) 
Uninsured Losses Reserve (7,224) 5,741 (1,483) 1,483 -
Waste Services Vehicles Replacement (539) 429 (110) 43 (67) 
Other< £100k (457) 19 (438) 176 (262) 

Total General Fund (34,215) 17,141 (17,074) 6,062 (11,012) 
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5. 

5.30.3 Capital Receipts Reserve 

The Capital Receipts Reserve represents proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment, 
which are restricted in order to finance future capital investment. A summary of the movement in 
the reserve during the year is as follows: 

31-Mar-24
£'000

(5,138) Balance as at 1 April 
(998) Receipts in year

. Realisation of deferred capital receipts 
380 Applied during the year 

(5,756) Balance as at 31 March 

5.30.4 Capital Grants Unapplied Account 

31-Mar-25
£'000

(5,756)
(18) 

738 
(5,036) 

The balance on the Capital Grants Unapplied Account represents grants and contributions 
received by the Council for the purpose of funding capital expenditure but not yet utilised. The 
grants in question have been recognised as income as they have no conditions attached to them 
that may require the monies to be returned to the giver. A summary of the movement in the account 
during the year is as follows: 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

(19,954) Balance as at 1 April {22,269) 

{2,714) Capital grants and contributions unapplied credited to the {1,896) Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Account 

399 Application of grants to capital financing transferred to the 1,528 Capital Adjustment Account 
(22,269) Balance as at 31 March (22,637) 

The balance above includes Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding of £21,354k (2023/24 
20,568k). 

5.31 Unusable Reserves 

Unusable Reserves are those reserves that the council cannot use to provide services. This 
category of reserves includes reserves that hold unrealised gains and losses (e.g. Revaluation 
Reserve) where the amounts would only become available for use when assets are sold; and 
reserves that hold timing differences shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement line 
"Adjustments between accounting and funding basis under regulations". 
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31-Mar-24 Note 31-Mar-25 
£'000 £'000 

Revaluation Balances 
(102,569) Revaluation Reserve 5.31.1 (104,501) 

Financial Instruments Revaluation Reserve 

Adjustment Accounts 
(72,293) Capital Adjustment Account 5.31.2 (82,899) 
(2,429) Deferred Capital Receipts 5.31.3 (2,429) 
(4,607) Collection Fund Adjustment Account 5.31.4 (1,086) 
7,252 Pensions Reserve 5.31.5 15,464 
141 Accumulated Absences Account 5.31.6 147 

(174,504) (175,303) 

5.31.1 Revaluation Reserve 

The revaluation reserve records the gains made by the Council arising from increases in the value 
of its Property, Plant and Equipment. The balance is reduced when assets with accumulated gains 
are: 

• revalued downwards or impaired and the gains are lost
• used in the provision of services and the gains are consumed through

depreciation
• disposed of and the gains are realised

The reserve contains only revaluation gains accumulated since 1 April 2007, the date that the 
reserve was created. Accumulated gains arising before that date are consolidated into the balance 
on the Capital Adjustment Account. A summary of the movement in the reserve during the year is 
as follows: 

31-Mar-24 Revaluation Reserve Movements in Year 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

(102,946) Balance at 1 April (102,569) 
Correct opening balance (10) 

(742) Upward Revaluation of Assets (3,555) 
Downward Revaluation of Assets 620 

(742) In Year surplus on revaluation of non-current assets (2,935) 

1,007 Difference between Fair Value Depreciation and Historical Cost 1,013 Depreciation 

112 Accumulated Gains on Assets Sold or Scrapped written off to the 
Capital Adjustment Account 

1,119 In Year amounts written out to the Capital Adjustment Account 1,013 

(102,569) Balance at 31st March (104,501) 

5.31.2 Capital Adjustment Account 

The Capital Adjustment Account (CAA) absorbs the timing differences arising from the different 
arrangements for accounting for the consumption of non-current assets and for financing the 
acquisition, construction or enhancement of those assets under statutory provisions. 

The account is debited with the cost of acquisition, construction or enhancement as depreciation, 
impairment losses and amortisations are charged to the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 

83 



Statement (with reconciling postings from the Revaluation Reserve to convert current value figures 
to a historical cost basis). During the year a minimum revenue provision of £490k (2024/25 £482k) 
was made towards reducing the Council's capital financing requirement which is further disclosed 
in note 5.17. 

The account contains accumulated gains and losses on investment property and gains recognised 
on donated assets that have yet to be consumed by the Council. The account also contains 
revaluation gains accumulated on Property, Plant and Equipment before 
1 April 2007, the date that the Revaluation Reserve was created to hold such gains. Note 5.14 
provides details of the source of all transactions posted to the account, apart from those involving 
the Revaluation Reserve (above). 

A summary of the movement in the account during the year is as follows: 

31-Mar-24 Capital Adjustment Account 31-Mar-25
£'000 Movements in year 2024- 25 £'000

(77,265) Balance at 1 April (72,293) 
(1) Opening Balance Adjustment 103 

Reversal of items debited or credited to the CIES 
2,646 Depreciation, impairment and amortisation 2,841 
13,930 Impairment/ Revaluation charged to the CIES 1,890 
(502) Movements in the market value of Investment Properties 210 
1,508 Revenue expenditure funded from capital under statute 2,305 
3,290 Non-current assets written out on disposal 3,584 
- Donated Assets -

(24) Financial Instrument Impairment Allowance
Transfers between revenue and capital resources

(482) Minimum Revenue Provision (490) 
(7,679) Capital expenditure charged against the General Fund (12,940) 
{2,574) Investment proceeds recognition (2,532) 

Adjustments to capital resources 
(380) Use of Capital Receipts to finance capital expenditure (738) 

(3,641) Application of capital grants and other contributions to finance capital (3,826) expenditure 
Adjustments involving the Revaluation Reserve 

(112) Accumulated gains on non-current assets disposed -
(1,007) Difference between current value depreciation over historic cost (1,013) depreciation 

(72,293) Closing Balance 31st March (82,899) 

84 



5.31.3 Deferred Capital Receipts 

The Deferred Capital Receipts Reserve represents proceeds yet to be realised from the sale of 
property, plant and equipment. When received, the proceeds will be transferred to the Usable 
Capital Receipts Reserve. A summary of the movement in the reserve during the year is as follows: 

31-Mar-24 Deferred Capital Receipts 
£'000

(2,379) Balance as at 1 April 

(50) Deferred receipts - recognition of PPE & donated assets
. Realised in year 

(2,429) Balance at 31st March 

5.31.4 Collection Fund Adjustment Account 

31-Mar-25
£'000

(2,429)

(2,429) 

The Collection Fund Adjustment Account manages the differences arising from the recognition of 
council tax and non-domestic rates income in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as it falls due from council tax payers and business rates payers compared with the 
statutory arrangements for paying across amounts to the General Fund from the Collection Fund. 

31-Mar-24 Collection Fund 
£'000
(42) COUNCIL TAX

Balance as at 1 April
Amount by which council tax credited to the Comprehensive Income 

65 and Expenditure Statement is different from council tax calculated for 
the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

23 Balance as at 31 March 

NON-DOMESTIC RATES 
(1,792) Balance as at 1 April 

Adjustment to opening balance 

Amount by which non-domestic rates credited to the Comprehensive 
(2,838) Income and Expenditure Statement is different from non-domestic 

rates calculated for the year in accordance with statutory requirements 

(4,630) Balance as at 31 March 
(4,607) Total NNDR and Council Tax 

5.31.5 Pension Reserve 

31-Mar-25
£'000

23 

(181) 

(158) 

(4,630) 
5 

3,696 

(928) 
(1,086) 

The Pension Reserve absorbs the timing differences arising from the different arrangements for 
accounting for post-employment benefits and for funding benefits in accordance with statutory 
provisions. 

The council accounts for post-employment benefits in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure 
Statement as the benefits are earned by employees accruing years of service, updating the 
liabilities recognised to reflect inflation, changing assumptions, and investment returns on any 
resources set aside to meet the costs. However, statutory arrangements require benefits earned 
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to be financed as the Council makes employer's contributions to the Hertfordshire Local 
Government Pension Scheme. 

The debit balance on the Pensions Reserve therefore shows a substantial shortfall in the benefits 
earned by past and current employees and the resources the Council has set aside to meet them. 
The statutory arrangements will ensure that funding will have been set aside by the time the 
benefits come to be paid. A summary of the movement in the reserve during the year is as follows: 

31-Mar-24 31-Mar-25
£'000 £'000

10,637 Balance at 1 April 7,252
(6,562) Re-measurement of the net defined pension liability (note 5.29.1) (12,133) 

Reversal of items relating to retirement benefits debited or credited to 

2,768 the Surplus / ( deficit) on the Provision of Services in the 2,510 Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement (note 5.14 & 
5.29.2) 

{2,979) Employers contribution payable to scheme (note 5.14 / 5.29.2) (3,216) 

3,388 Asset Ceiling Adjustment 21,051 

7,252 Balance at 31 March 15,464 

5.31.6 Accumulated Absences Account 

The Accumulated Absences Account absorbs the differences that would otherwise arise on the 
General Fund balance from accruing for compensated absences earned but not taken in the year, 
e.g. annual leave entitlement carried forward at 31 March. Statutory arrangements require that the
impact on the General Fund balance is neutralised by transfers to or from the account.

31-Mar-24
£'000

133 Balance at 1 April 

(133) Settlement or cancellation of accrual made at the end of the preceding
year

-

Amount by which officer remuneration charged to the Comprehensive 

141 Income and Expenditure Statement on an accruals basis is different
from remuneration chargeable in the year in accordance with statutory
requirements

141 Balance at 31 March 

5.32 Cash Flow Statement - Operating Activities 

31-Mar-25
£'000

141 

(141) 

-

147 

147 
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31-Mar-24
£'000

Adjustments for Non-cash movements: 
Charges for depreciation, impairment and amortisation of  non-current 
assets: 

(16,431) Property, plant and equipment 
(23) Heritage assets

(122) Intangible assets
502 Movements in the value of investment properties 
50 Donated assets 

Carrying amount of non-current assets sold: 
(3,290) Property, plant and equipment 

212 Non cash pension costs 
(345) Movement in respect of internal interest
(17) Increase/ (decrease) in inventories

14,572 Increase/ (decrease) in revenue debtors
(9,158) (Increase)/ decrease in revenue creditors & provisions

(14,050) 

Adjustments for items that are investing or financing activities: 
5,955 Capital grants credited to deficit on the provision of services 
3,572 Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets: 
9,527 

The cash flows for operating activities include the following: 
(3,221) Interest received 

(7,744) Total 

5.33 Cash Flow Statement - Investing Activities 

31-Mar-24
£'000

Investing activities 

20,525 Purchase of property, plant and equipment, investment property and 
intangible assets 

27,500 Purchase of short-term and long-term investments 
6,149 Other payments for investing activities 

Proceeds from the sale of non-current assets 
(998) Property plant and equipment

(43,500) Proceeds from short-term and long-term investments 

(4,741) Grants received towards the purchase of property plant and 
equipment 

(3,814) Other receipts from investing activities 
1,121 Net cash flows from investing activities 

31-Mar-25
£'000

(4,602) 
(20) 

(129) 
(210) 

(3,584) 
869 

7 
(25,632) 
12,236 

(21,065) 

4,865 
1,668 
6,533 

(3,334) 

(17,865) 

31-Mar-25
£'000

17,607 

60,800 
16,971 

(68,552) 

(3,165) 

(2,851) 
20,810 
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5.34 Cash Flow Statement - Financing Activities 

31-Mar-24
£'000

Financing activities 

(14,373) Cash inflow from agency arrangements for the collection of NNDR and 
council tax 

(14,373) Net cash (inflow) / outflow from financing activities 

5.35 Contingent Assets 

Proceeds of Right to Buy 

31-Mar-25
£'000

(11,662) 

(11,662) 

In 1994, the Council sold its housing stock to two Housing Associations at below the market value 
as tenants were still occupying the homes. The agreement signed between the Council and the 
Housing Associations stipulates that any sale of these properties (right to buy) results in part of the 
proceeds reverting to the Council. However, the quantum of any future revenue cannot be 
reasonably determined as the Council is not aware of the number of properties that will be sold in 
the future. 

Truck Cartel Case 
Hertsmere Council are part of a class action taken by the Local Government Association, against 
vehicle companies which it is claims indulged in price fixing. The Council buys all of its vehicles 
outright, we cannot yet quantify the likely potential gain or likelihood of success. 

5.36 Contingent Liabilities 

Financial Guarantees 
The Council has committed itself to providing lending to its wholly-owned subsidiaries, Elstree 
Studios Limited and Hertsmere Developments Limited, if required. 

5.37 Related Party Transactions 

The Council is required to disclose all material related party transactions included within this 
Statement of Accounts. Related parties of the Council include: 

■ Central Government
■ Other Local Authorities and other bodies precepting or levying demands on council tax
■ The Council's Members and Chief Officers
■ Subsidiary and associated companies
■ Other entities with which the Council carries on any form of collaborative venture
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Central Government 

Other local authorities and 
other bodies 
Members 

Chief Officers 

Central Government has the effective control over the general operations of 
the Council. It is responsible for providing the statutory framework within 
which the Council operates, provides a major proportion of its funding in the 
form of grants, and prescribes the terms of many of the transactions that the 
Council has with other parties (e.g. housing benefits). Details of principal 
transactions with government departments are set out in note 5.9. 

Details of the amounts precepted and demanded are set out in the council's 
Collection Fund Statement. 
Members of the council have direct control over the Council's financial and 
operating policies. The total of members allowances paid in 2024/25 is 
shown in note 5.10. 

Thirty-one members represent the Council on the governing bodies of 
voluntary and community organisations. Grants totalling £467k (2023/24: 
£436k) were made to voluntary organisations by the council in the year. A 
further £1 00k (2023/24: £102k) of support has been distributed to food banks 
to support the community utilising the Household Support Fund. 

Details of the interests of members in external organisations are maintained 
in the Register of Members' Interests. CIL payments made in year to Parish 
Councils totalled £94k. (2023/24: £374k). 

The following members hold Director positions on Hertsmere Developments 
Ltd, the Council's wholly owned subsidiary: Cllrs R Butler (resigned May 
2024, C Shenton, P Kaza and PJ Hodgson-Jones. Details of relationship 
described below. 

The following members hold positions of Director on Elstree Film Studios, the 
Council's 100% owned subsidiary: Cllrs M Bright, CS Clapper, C Myers, PJ 
Hodgson-Jones and J Newmark. Details of relationship described below. 
Chief Officers are entitled to receive car loans from the Council. During the 
year a loan of £28k was made (2023/24: £0), repayments of £10k (2023/24: 
£10.2k) were received and £27.8k was receivable at 31 March 2025 (2024: 
£9.3k). 

The following Senior Officers of the Council hold positions of Director in 
Hertsmere Developments Ltd (HDL): P Geraghty, ML Bunyan, and HJ 
Shade. The Council's dormant company, Hertsmere Homes Ltd (HHL) is 
represented by ML Bunyan. RJH Patterson was appointed the Company 
Secretary of HDL and HHL. Details of relationship described below. 

Additionally, Senior Officer ML Bunyan holds position of Director in Broste 
Rivers Limited and its two subsidiaries Hertfordshire Building Control Limited 
and The Building Control (Hertfordshire) Limited. The Council has shared 
ownership of one-seventh of Broste Rivers Limited. Details of relationship 
described below. 

The following Senior Officers of the Council hold positions of Director in 
Hertsmere Living Ltd: Sajida Bijle and Emily Dillon. Details of relationship 
described below. 

HJ Shade represents the Council on the CCTV partnership. Details of 
relationship described below. 
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Dacorum Borough Council, East Herts Council, North Herts District 
Council, Stevenage Borough Council, Three Rivers District Council, 
Watford Borough Council and Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council as well 
as the Hertfordshire Constabulary. 

External review and challenge - Hertsmere LGA Corporate Peer 
Challenge 

40. The Council recognises the importance of external challenge and 
review for ongoing service and organisational improvement and
therefore invited the Local Government Association (LGA) to carry out
a whole council Corporate Peer Challenge (CPC). This review was
part of the LGA's sector led improvement programme and involved a
team of experienced senior local government Councillors and officers,
providing robust, strategic and credible independent support and
challenge across 5 main areas:

• Local priorities and outcomes
• Organisational and place leadership
• Governance and culture
• Financial planning and management
• Capacity for improvement

41. The onsite element of the CPC took place from the 7-10th October 2024
with six officer and member peers from similar authorities across the
country. They held over 25 meetings and spoke to more than 130 
partners, staff and Members in a mix of interviews and focus groups.

42. The Council received a full feedback report in January 2025. The
report recognised the commitment from both officers and Members to
make a difference in their local communities. They also thanked all
that participated for their openness, which they saw as testimony to
their collective commitment to the council.

43. The report made a number of recommendations, and the Council has
produced an action plan in response to these. The report and action
plan were considered by Cabinet and Council and are available on the
website. The LGA will visit the Council in late 2025 to review progress
against the recommendations made.
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